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From the Command Tent

  

    

When we think of a Civil war prison, our thoughts normally turn to two portraits.  The first is the picture that Hollywood presents where officers and men lounge around getting a suntan, like Hogan’s Heroes camp where men are well fed and clothed, or we think of Andersonville.  But unless you have made the pilgrimage to the National Prisoner of War Museum at Andersonville, you get a foggy picture at best of the conditions that faced both sides.  

We hope to give you a better picture of these conditions through the number of articles that we have compiled on Andersonville. Running in the middle of the camp was a stagnant, befouled stream, ironically named Sweet Water Branch, which was used as a sewer as well as for drinking and bathing. There were no barracks; prisoners were forbidden to construct shelters, and while some did erect tents and flimsy lean-tos, most were left fully exposed to the hot Georgia sun. Medical treatment was virtually nonexistent.  


With the South barely able to feed its own men, the prisoners, who were supposed to get the same rations as Confederate soldiers, starved, receiving rancid grain and perhaps a few tablespoons a day of rotting beans or peas.  The poor food and sanitation, lack of shelter and health care, crowding, and the hot Georgia sun all took their toll in the form of dysentery, scurvy, malaria, and exposure.  During the summer of 1864, more than 100 prisoners died every day.


Much has been written about Andersonville and Captain Peter Wirz.  There is a lot of bad information out there due to the prejudices on both sides.  The town of Andersonville, GA wants to make Captain Wirz a hero (they have even erected a stature in his honor in the town square) while the North wants to vilify him.  Outraged citizens urged retribution on Southern prisoners of war while disregarding their own prison camps, including Elmira, New York, where the death rate approached Andersonville's.  Mismanagement and severe shortages were more to blame for the horrors of Andersonville than any deliberate attempt to mistreat prisoners.  Nevertheless, many Northerners insisted that the abuse was deliberate and demanded vengeance. Consequently, after being tried by a U.S. military court and convicted of war crimes, the prison's commander, Captain Henry Wirz, was hanged in November 1865 for "impairing the health and destroying the lives of prisoners."   We’ve tried to take out these preconceived notions and present you with an accurate portrayal of the conditions at Andersonville


During this time our own 4th OVC had 316 men captured with 38 being held captive in Rebel POW camps, including the 26 men who were at Andersonville.  Of these 316 men, 16 died while being incarcerated.   We respectfully dedicate this issue to all the men that were interred in the Civil War regardless of which flag they fought under.










Bill Krebs

                                                                                                                                    President
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4th OVCDA Reunion


During the last reunion in Nashville, it was decided to have another reunion this year, rather than wait for 2014.  We’ve set the reunion date for August 15th through the 18th in Lima, OH.  We will be staying at the Wingate Hotel in Lima.  The cost of the room, if booked early, is $72.00 per night.  For reservations contact the hotel at (419) 228-7000.  Ask to reserve a room under the Cindy Freed Friends block

Scattered in the Lima area are 29 known graves of the 4th OVC in 13 cemeteries.  But don’t worry; we will only be going to 3 of the cemeteries where 17 are buried.  We will visit the other 12 at some future date.

The Memorial Hall, where we will have our Meet N Greet, was built in 1908 for the GAR convention in Lima and we will have an opportunity to have a tour of the building courtesy of Betsy Potts.  It will be interesting to be in the same building that the original 4th was in.

We will also be touring the MacDonell House, an 1890's Victorian mansion with more than 15 rooms furnished in great detail.  Features include: beautiful parquet floors, intricately hand-carved woodwork throughout, a two-story stained glass window accented by a grand staircase, a rare Viennese painting on a cobweb, a Wooten cabinet desk, an albino wild game and trophy room.  You can view the house and museum here: http://www.allencountymuseum.org . Both the House and the museum are at the same location, and are only 2 blocks away from the hotel.  Also you are just minutes away from the Neil Armstrong Museum, antique stores, and other interesting places which we have provided time to see and do on your own.

We have a lot to cover at the meeting: election of officers, what we intend to do with the money we collect from the dues, electronic voting and more. 
Here is the projected itinerary:


Thursday:
Arrival
6:00 - ? Meet N Greet at the Allen County Memorial Hall (7 Town Square, Lima, OH) 

Friday:
 9:00 - 10:00 Meet for breakfast
10:00 - 12:00 - Planting of the flags (Woodlawn Cemetery)
12:00 - 1:00 - Lunch
1:00 - 5:00 - Allen County Museum & MacDonell House
5:00 - 6:00 - Free time
6:00 - 8:00 - Meet for Dinner

Saturday:
  9:00 - 10:00 Meet for Breakfast

10:00 – 12:00 – Planting of the flags (Spencerville & Rockport Cemeteries)
1:00 - 6:00 – Free time
6:00 - 8:00 - Meet for Dinner
8:00 - ? – Meeting
Sunday:
Departure

It was also decided at the last reunion to have a reunion in April of 2015 at Selma, AL to coincide with the reenactment of the Battle of Selma in which the 4th played the major role and also to have a possible Army of the Cumberland reunion in Chattanooga in 2016 in conjunction with other descendant organizations. More information will be forthcoming on these reunions at some future date.
Quilting Through History
by: Clive Jenkins 


Quilting is an ancient activity, present in many cultures and each of these cultures influencing its development and particularity through time. The quilts became the expression of their maker's feelings, the witness of historical events or happy moments in simple people's lives. From its beginning until the present days, quilting had its ups and downs. Today, the development of the textiles industry and those of the machines and accessories used in making the quilts, the improved techniques of quilting have transformed this simple activity into a true art. 

The oldest quilt comes from ancient Egypt and it consists in a clothing item found on the statue of an Egyptian pharaoh, who lived around the year 3400 before Jesus Christ. The technique used in quilting stitches was also found in decorative objects from Middle East churches. It is considered that the Templar Knights themselves took over the idea of quilted garments from the Muslim soldiers, who used it to replace parts of their armor when the metal was not enough. 

In America, the ones who have brought and developed quilting were the Dutch and the English colonists, who made three layered clothes to protect them from cold and, from the remains of the fabrics they made bed coverings. [Using remnants like] this happened in the early 12th century [in Europe] and there are some written records about the quilting craft and the designed used in those times, but few samples were found because the fabrics were perishable. Though, a well-preserved sample is dated 15th century and you can observe here the parent of the quilting stitch represented by the coarse line and embroidery. 

The 17th century gives us the first bed covering the Levens Hall, made from imported Indian chintzes. The details and the exquisite craft design indicate it as an example of high quality quilting, not just an ordinary bed covering. 

When colonists brought the first patchwork-quilted products in America, they did not know how much this art would develop here. American women saw the great advantages of quilting, the functionality and the artistic experience of quilts and decided to expand and improve the scarce samples brought by the colonists. Therefore, they started to create interesting geometrical designs that became very popular in the 1880's fairs and competitions. 
[image: image44.jpg]


L – R:  Karen Krebs, Kay Dodge, Cheryl.  The quilt, made for the returning soldiers from Iraq and Afghanistan, is displayed in a place of honor at the Ft Knox Army Base. Photo courtesy of Kentucky Soldiers Aide Society

Along with the modern sewing techniques of the 20th century, the traditional craft of quilted bed coverings, table coverings or child comforts slightly decreased. Cheap and mass-produced garments and comforters replaced the original quilted bed coverings. 

The 1960's brought the remerge of the quilting activity in the southern areas of the United States and the tradition was once again brought back to life and passed from one generation to another. It took almost 20 years, until 1980, to make the art of quilting be re-appreciated and practiced all over the country by passions women, even became a flowering business. 

About The Author 

Clive Jenkins 
If you are truly interested in learning more about quilting then you absolutely must visit the Long Arm Quilting Machine Site. Clive thoroughly recommends this site so check it out today here: - http://www.longarmquiltingmachinesite.com For comprehensive and helpful quilting advice and tips. Visit the site now for some great advice on the latest quilt patterns 
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Civil War Quote:

Infantry troops often uttered this sarcasm in criticism of the cavalry, who were said to fight so rarely that they seldom left casualties behind.

Whoever saw a dead cavalryman?
[image: image2.png]http://4thohiocavalry.webs.com





Around

 The 

Campfire
Welcome to Elizabeth Potts.  She is the sister of Cindy Feed and is in Lima Ohio (cousin of George & James Vanmeter both of Co F)
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  Did You Know?

       Bob Venable


Did you know that the 4th OVC had a soldier nicknamed “Hanky” whose wife was nicknamed “Gussie”?  That was PVT Henry E. Fawcett, Co., F, born in Mason County, Kentucky in 1846, the son of Price H. and Mary A. Fawcett.  He was the sixth of eight children according to the 1850 Census of Mason County.  
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Hanky

Hanky enlisted in the 4th OVC on February 19, 1864 for three years and was mustered out with the regiment on July 15, 1865.  After the war, Hanky apparently was a river boat gambler until he migrated to San Francisco, California by 1880 and worked as a wallpaper hanger.  


Augustine, “Gussie,” was born between 1859 and 1866 (depending on which Census you believe) in Vicksburg, Mississippi, the daughter of August and Christien Cogniasse from France.  Her family moved to California in the 1870s and ended up in San Francisco by 1880 where she dabbled in spiritualism.  But she also learned dress and hat-making to earn a living.
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Gussie

Hanky met Gussie and they married in 1882 and moved to Oakland.  Hanky worked as an interior decorator and was a fine arts painter.  But his descendants described him as an “inveterate gambler.”  He and his brother Charles opened a paint and wallpaper store in Oakland but went bankrupt, allegedly because of Hanky’s gambling.  Hanky reopened the store in Vallejo, California in 1895 with Charles but Charles moved back to Oakland by 1910.  Hanky’s granddaughter recalls men gathering in his store to gamble.  Apparently needing to shelter her income from Hanky’s creditors, Gussie petitioned a local court to be a “sole trader,” meaning she could have her own business and control her own money.  Her application was granted and she continued in that capacity as a dress and hat-maker.  


Hanky’s gambling grew worse in Vallejo where a naval shipyard was located.  When the ships were in port, the sailors were eager to gamble and Hanky was willing to oblige.  Hanky and Gussie had a large home in Vallejo and it seems that several of their children and grandchildren lived there with them.  The favorite pastime was apparently card games.   Their children were:

· Walter (1882-1967) married Iva Blanche McCaslin

· Harry E. (1884-1937) married Edna Kane

· Viola (abt 1886-abt 1887)

· Hazel A. (1888-1972) married Gilbert Foster

· Myrtle (1892-1966) married ? Grossherr

· Thomas Edgar (1893-1972) married Emily Washburn


Hanky was reputedly very proud of his service with the 4th OVC.  He owned a copy of Lucien Wulsin’s history of the regiment which he gave to his youngest son with this dedication penned on the inside of the front cover:
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Transcription inside Wulsin book


Gussie died in 1924 and Hanky followed in 1934.  Both are buried in Sunrise Cemetery, Vallejo, Solano County, California.

Besides Census reports from 1850 through 1930, information for this article was derived from a biography by the Fawcett’s great-granddaughter, Professor Christine Sleeter at web page https://sites.google.com/a/christinesleeter.org/critical-family-history/fawcett-cogniasse and cemetery records from 

http://www.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~cascgsi/sunrisecemfafo.htm  
Ten Years Ago …


The 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry Newsletter. Volume 1, Issue 3 featured Bill Krebs’ extensive Timeline of Civil War events during the first half of 1862.


Editor Karin Corbeil promised a future series on military jargon of the Civil War era and reminded readers that the second reunion of the Descendants Association was scheduled for October 10-12, 2003 in Columbus, Ohio.


4th OVC baseball caps were advertised for $10 with profits going to our Save the Flag campaign.
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Founding members of the 4th OVCDA on site of where the 4th fought at Chickamauga
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Tombstones 
–Bill Krebs 

What cemetery records are available?

An active cemetery usually has a business, nonprofit or religious organization, or government office in charge. The superintendent (or sexton) is the most direct route to cemetery records that might tell you more about the people buried there. Find the superintendent in a city directory, by running a Google <google.com> search on the cemetery or by visiting the town’s local government offices. Not having any luck? Contact the local historical or genealogical society. 


Cemetery records should at least list the name of the deceased and a burial date. They might include a copy of the cemetery deed, a permit for the transport or reburial of a body, and a register or map with names and locations of gravesites. Sextons’ logs may indicate age at death, next of kin, burial fees, date the marker was placed and who placed it.  The office may have a transcription of the tombstone inscriptions giving the location of each grave.


If your ancestor is buried in an abandoned cemetery, it may be more difficult (but not impossible) to find it and its records. Check local cemetery guides, which you usually can find through the area’s genealogical or historical societies. Or try searching a local public library card catalog for cemetery guidebooks. You might also try the local college.  The University of Louisville has an excellent section on old maps and local cemeteries in its library.  Also, do a Google search for cemetery records and the town name or the names of local burial grounds. 


Volunteers also might have compiled transcriptions of an area’s cemeteries, whether they’re active or not. Websites such as the USGenWeb Tombstone Transcription Project, Interment.net and Find A Grave link to searchable transcriptions for US and international cemeteries. Major genealogical libraries, local and state historical or genealogical societies have printed or microfilmed transcriptions.


When I can I take a cemetery transcription to the graveyard. Because some transcriptions were made before stones became difficult to read, I use them to decode faded carvings, which happens all too often. 


After you’ve learned to “read” a cemetery, you’ll never visit one the same way again. Each one’s unique physical landscape will reveal the cultural landscape your ancestors knew. Chances are, next time you stop at a cemetery, you’ll find yourself scanning it for age, evidence of social groupings, signs of upkeep, and memorial offerings. You’ll pay extra attention to the carved images on the stones, and understand an epitaph as a condolence or a spiritual warning. In short, you’ll appreciate how much these lands of the dead tell you about the lives of your ancestors.

I’ve included here nine tips that I hope will be helpful to you when you go “cemetery hopping”.

· Follow safety precautions when visiting cemeteries. Go during daylight, tell friends where you’ll be, bring a pal, take water and bug spray, and keep your cell phone handy.
·  If you plan on taking pictures of tombstones take along extra batteries for your camera.  There’s nothing more aggravating than taking all the trouble to find a particular grave and then discover that your batteries are dead and you have no replacements.
· Always check at the cemetery office to make sure you have the correct information and that in fact the person you are seeking is actually buried there.  This has saved me endless hours of fruitless searching.
· See if the cemetery has a map and ask them to plot out on it the location of the grave.  Some cemeteries have plot maps of the sections, thus making it easier and faster to find a grave.
· Check with the office to see if your ancestor has a tombstone and who is buried around them as the grave you are searching for may a grave with no tombstone.
· When taking a picture of a stone, make sure the sun is not going to “blind” the picture.
· Make sure that the image of the stone fills the view finder and not you.  Few things can be more frustrating that after you get the pictures downloaded to see your shadow in them or your car up on the hill.
· If it is a difficult grave to find, take a picture from the grave looking at some landmark like a distinctive tree or easily recognizable tombstone.  Draw a map if need be.
· If the cemetery is gated, pay attention to the cemetery hours. You don’t want to get locked in.
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It's hard to be humble with ancestors like mine! 

TO THE SURVIVING RELATIVES OF THE MARTYRED "DEAD" AT ANDERSONVILLE, GEORGIA
- Dorence Atwater

-Preface to Dorrence Atwater’s publication of the death rolls at Andersonville.

This record was originally copied for you because I feared that neither you nor the Government of the United States would ever otherwise learned of the fate of your loved ones whom I saw daily dying before me. I could do nothing for them, but I resolved that I would at least try to let you sometime know when and how they died. This at least I am able to do now.
So many conflicting rumors have been in circulation in regard to these rolls and myself, that I deem it prudent to give a brief statement of my entire connection with this Death Register, and to show how and why it has been so long withheld from you.


On the seventh of July, 1863, I was taken prisoner near Hagerstown, Maryland, and taken to Belle Island, Richmond Virginia, via Staunton, where I remained five months. I then went to Smith`s Tobacco Factory, Richmond, where I kept the account of supplies received from our Government, and issued to Federal prisoners of war. In the latter part of February 1864, I was sent to Andersonville with a squad of four hundred other prisoners from Belle Isle, arriving there the first day of March. I remained inside the stockade until the middle of May, when I was sent to the hospital. On the 15`th of June I was paroled and detailed as a clerk in Surgeon J.H. White`s office, to keep the daily record of deaths of all Federal prisoners of war. I also made monthly and quarterly abstracts of the deaths, the latter one was said to be for the Federal Government, which I have since learned was never received. 


The appalling mortality was such that I suspected that it was the design of the Rebel Government to kill and maim our prisoners by exposure and starvation so that they would forever be totally unfit for military service, and that they withheld these facts. Accordingly, in the latter part of August, 1864, I began to secretly copy the entire list of our dead, which I succeeded in doing, and brought safely through the lines with me in March, 1865. Arriving at camp Parole, at Annapolis, Maryland.., I learned that I could not get a furlough on account of my term of service having expired some seven months before. I immediately wrote to the Secretary of War, asking for a furlough of thirty days, for the purpose of having my Death Register published for the relief of many thousands anxious in regard to the fate of their dead. Before an answer could have returned, I received a furlough from the Commandant of the camp. I then went to my home in Terryville, Connecticut, where I was taken sick the next day after my arrival, which confined me for three weeks. On the twelfth of April, I received a telegram from the War Department, requesting me to come immediately to Washington and bring my rolls, and if found acceptable, I should be suitably rewarded. I started the next day for Washington. Arriving there, I went to the War Department, and learned that the person (Col. Breck) with whom I was to make arrangements was absent at the Fort Sumpter celebration. I left my rolls with the chief clerk for safe keeping. In a day or two Colonel Breck returned, and he informed me that the Secretary of War had authorized him to pay me three hundred dollars ($300) for the rolls. I told him I did not wish to sell the rolls that they ought to be published for the benefit of the friends of the dead, for whom chiefly they had been copied. He told me if I wish to publish them, the Government would confiscate them, that I would have until 9 o`clock the next morning to decide whether I would take the three hundred dollars or not. The rolls were then in his possession. I told him if I could have a clerkship in the department which he had described to me, three hundred dollars, and the rolls back again as soon as copied, I should consider it satisfactory. To this he agreed. He then informed me that it would be necessary for me to enlist in the General service in order to get the clerkship. To this I objected but in no other way was it available, and I accepted. I was to muster out of my original enlistment, and given permission to visit home, and return for the duty by the first of June. While in New York in the latter part of May, I telegraphed to Colonel Breck, asking if my rolls were copied, to which I received a reply, "NOT YET ".

Soon after my arrival in Washington in June, I called on Colonel Breck, and asked the privilege of taking sheets of my rolls out after business hours, to copy and return them the next morning. He said he would have to ask General Townsend. I then wrote to Colonel Breck, asking if he did or did not intend to return my rolls that I had promised that the rolls should be published for the benefit of the friends of the deceased. He returned my letter endorsed as follows: " I have fully explained the matter to General Townsend, and he says the rolls shall not be copied for any traffic whatever." I had never spoken of any trafficking in them; I only wished to give them to people for whom I had copied them at some personal risk. Nothing was more said in regard to the rolls until after my return from Andersonville in August. 


Miss Clara Barton, of Washington D.C. upon learning the condition of the cemetery at Andersonville, and that the graves could be identified, had reported the facts to the Secretary of War, who ordered the necessary arrangements to be made for the marking of the graves. A party charged with this duty left Washington on the eighth day of July, consisting of Miss Clara Barton, Captain J.M. Moore, myself and forty two letterers, painters, and clerks, arriving at Andersonville on the 25`th of July.

Before leaving Washington it was found that the original register. captured by General Wilson, was deficient in one book containing about twenty-four hundred names, and my rolls were sent to supply this deficiency. The original was also found in many places blurred and imperfect, through want of care, and my rolls were frequently needed to aid this defect. They were therefore publicly and consistently in the hands of all who had the occasion to consult them, and so came into my hands in the course of duty. They had been copied at Washington, according to my agreement with colonel Breck, and were mine, and lawfully in my possession. I proposed to retain and give them to you as soon as I could. I did not propose to injure anyone, to do anything unlawful or improper with them, much less traffic or speculate on the information they contained, but I did retain them. When the originals were needed in the Wirz trial at Washington, they and my copy were in my tent when the messenger arrived in Andersonville. He took the original and left my copy. When we started home I placed these rolls, with my other property, in my trunk, and brought them to Washington. Upon my arrival I reported to Colonel Breck, at the War Department. He asked if I knew where my rolls were. I said "I have them; will you allow me to keep them, now that you have them copied here?" 


He told me “We might as well come to an understanding about these rolls. This is the last conversation you and I will have about them; if you pay back the three hundred dollars you can keep the rolls otherwise you must return them." I asked him" If he did not agree to give them back when copied."  He said” Yes, but you were going to set yourself up in business by publishing them, and we do not consider ourselves held to our agreement". I told him " I had a right to publishing them (if he called that setting myself up for business), and it was my duty to do so." I then turned to leave, intending to see Secretary Stanton. He said, “I infer that you do not intend to give up the rolls." I said " Not Yet: I must go farther to see about them." He said, “You will go to the `Old Capitol' if you do not give them up," and then sent for a guard to have me arrested. My room and trunk were searched, but the rolls could not be found. I was then out in the guard house for two days, and then transferred to the "Old Capitol Prison," and tried by court martial on the following charges and specifications:

Charge I. Conduct prejudicial to good military discipline. II. Larceny. Specifications in this that private Dorence Atwater, of the General Services of the United States Army, did seize and unlawfully take from the tent or quarters of Captain J.M. Moore, assistant quartermaster U.S. Army, certain property of the United States then and there in the proper charge and custody of the said Captain J.M. Moore, to wit: a certain document, consisting of a list written upon about 21 sheets of paper, of Federal prisoners of war who died at Andersonville, Georgia, the same having been prepared by said Atwater, while a prisoner of war at said Andersonville, and sold and disposed by him, to the United States , for the sum and price of three hundred dollars, and did appropriate and retain the said property to his own use. This at Andersonville, Georgia, on or about this 16`th day of august, 1865.


I was convicted, and sentenced as follows: "To be dishonorably discharged from the United States Service, with the loss of all pay and allowances now due; to pay a fine of three hundred dollars; to be confined at hard labor for the period of eighteen months, at such place the Secretary of War may direct; to furnish to the War Department the property specified in the second specification as the property stolen from Captain J.M. Moore, and stand committed at hard labor until the said fine is paid, and the said stolen property is furnished to the War Department." 


On the 26`th day of September I arrived at Auburn State Prison, New York, where I remained over two months at hard labor, when I was released under general pardon of the President of the United States. I reached New Haven, CT. on the following day, and learned that the record had not yet been furnished you. I immediately set about preparing it for publication, and have arranged to have it printed and placed within your reach at the cost of the labor of printing and material, having no means by which to defray these expenses myself. I regret that you have waited so long for information of so much interest to you. <><><> Dorrence Atwater 
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Timeline 4th OVC
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April – June 1863
April 2-6
From April 2-6, the 4th OVC was on a raid from Murfreesboro (Camp Stanley) to Auburn, Liberty, and Snow Hill, resulting in actions at Smith’s Ford on April 2, Snow Hill, Woodbury and Liberty on April 3.
April 2
The 4th was in an action at Smith’s Ford

April 3
The 4th saw action at Woodbury, Liberty, and Snow Hill, TN
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Skirmish at Snow Hill

  Near Snow Hill, T, dogwoods were blooming and the grass was turning a luscious green.  Another color was soon to be added – RED.  With the Army of the Cumberland well entrenched at Murfreesboro skirmishes were common in the vicinity.  Over the past several weeks CSA Colonel Basil W. Duke’s 1st Cavalry Brigade, of Brigadier General John Hunt Morgan’s Cavalry Division, had been on the move constantly.  They patrolled south of Murfreesboro scouting for any Federal movements.  

On the Federal side Col. Eli Long’s Second Cavalry Brigade of Brigadier General John B. Turchin’s Second Cavalry Division was active.  The 3d Ohio Cavalry, commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Charles B. Seidel, and the 4th Ohio Cavalry, commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Oliver P. Robie were scouting in the area of Snow Hill on April 2.  They clashed with CSA Colonel D. Howard Smith’s 5th Kentucky (CSA) Cavalry regiment.  With the Union troopers having a numerical superiority, they were victorious at Snow Hill suffering nine casualties (1 killed and 8 wounded), while Smith lost 50 killed and wounded.  Skirmishes would continue for the next several weeks eventually leading up to the Tullahoma Campaign.
April 10

An engagement occurred at Franklin, TN.  It started as a reconnaissance in force by Confederate cavalry leader Maj. Gen. Earl Van Dorn coupled with an equally inept response by Union Maj. Gen. Gordon Granger. Van Dorn advanced northward from Spring Hill on April 10, making contact with Federal skirmishers just outside Franklin. Van Dorns attack was so weak that when Granger received a false report that Brentwood, to the north, was under attack, he believed it, and sent away most of his cavalry, thinking that the Confederate general was undertaking a diversion. When the truth became known there was no threat to Brentwood.   Granger decided to attack Van Dorn, but he was surprised to learn that a subordinate had already done so, without orders. Brig. Gen. David S. Stanley, with a cavalry brigade, had crossed the Harpeth River at Hughes’s Ford, behind the Confederate right rear. The 4th U.S. Cavalry attacked and captured Freemans Tennessee Battery on the Lewisburg Road but lost it when Brig. Gen. Nathan Bedford Forrest counterattacked. Stanley’s troopers quickly withdrew across the Big Harpeth River. This incident in his rear caused Van Dorn to cancel his operations and withdraw to Spring Hill, leaving the Federals in control of the area.

April 20-30
  The 4th was on another raid to McMinnville, TN.  
May 12
The unit was assigned a reconnaissance mission to LaVergne, just outside Murfreesboro, TN, 
May 31 -22
Skirmish at Middleton, TN

 June 3
Skirmish at Murfreesboro 
June 4-5 

The 4th was on an expedition to Smithville, TN 
June 4 

Another skirmish at Snow Hill
June 5 

Skirmish at Smithville.
June 23 – July 7
The 4th OVC led the Tullahoma Campaign from June 23 to July 7. It would become one of the best campaigns of the war.
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Cooking Period… 

Karen Krebs

KYSAS Simple Pea Soup

Looking to feed 75 to 100 hungry people?  Try this tried and true recipe. It can be made on in hearth or on a modern stove.

8 lbs dried split peas
½ (6-8 lbs) cubed honey ham

5 lbs chopped or diced sweet onions

Salt and pepper to taste


In a LARGE stock pot, combine all the ingredients.  Cover with at least 8-16 quarts water.  Bring to a boil.  Turn to medium heat.  Cover and cook 2 – 4 hours adding more water as needed to keep a good amount of broth. 
· Black soldiers were paid $10 per month while serving in the Union army. This was $3 less than white soldiers.

Clara Barton and Andersonville
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Clara Barton

NPS/ANDE

During the Civil War there was no official system in place to document missing or dead soldiers. As the war ended Clara Barton, the "Angel of the Battlefield" who had achieved fame as a nurse during the war, took it upon herself to fill this void. She began to receive letters from family members trying to find out the fate of their loved ones who had not returned home. Each of these letters led to a painstaking process of researching the whereabouts of these missing soldiers and to respond to the family members' inquiries.

In June of 1865 a young clerk named Dorence Atwater contacted Barton and requested copies of her lists of missing soldiers. Atwater had been a prisoner at Andersonville and had been paroled to work in the hospital, where he diligently maintained a copy of the death records. Ecstatic, Barton contacted Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton and asked to accompany the US Army's expedition to Andersonville to identify the graves there.

At Andersonville in July and August of 1865, Atwater and Barton poured through the letters she had received, and began to search for these missing soldiers in the Andersonville Death Register and captured hospital records. While laborers worked to erect headboards in the cemetery, Barton wrote dozens of letters informing families that their loved ones had died at Andersonville. At the end of the expedition, Barton was given the honor of raising the American flag for the first time over the recently established Andersonville National Cemetery.

After returning from Andersonville, Barton set up the Missing Soldier's Office in Washington in 1865. She hired numerous clerks, including Dorence Atwater, to respond to the more than 60,000 letters that she received. By the time the Missing Soldiers Office closed in 1867, Barton and her staff had identified more than 20,000 missing soldiers, including nearly 13,000 who had died at Andersonville Prison.

Because of her fame as a nurse, she received much of the credit for the work of the Missing Soldiers Office and the Andersonville expedition. In a post war speaking series she was hailed as the "Heroine of Andersonville" and toured the nation displaying artifacts that she had collected at the prison site and lectured on the sufferings of the prisoners. She was even inducted as an honorary member of the Andersonville Survivor's Association, and the army's expedition to Andersonville to identify the graves quickly became known as Barton's expedition, even though she had only accompanied the previously planned endeavor and had worked primarily writing letters - not identifying graves as has often been claimed.

Barton's greatest contribution to the Andersonville story is through her work in the Missing Soldiers Office and her support of Dorence Atwater. Atwater was court-martialed and jailed in the fall of 1865 related to a dispute over the ownership of the Andersonville Death Register. It was through Barton's efforts that he was finally released and she then supported his publication of the Death Register. Barton is often mistakenly given credit for identifying the graves at Andersonville. However, she deserves a great deal of credit for her efforts to account for the missing soldiers, both at Andersonville and across countless the battlefields. 
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Newspaper illustration showing Clara Barton raising the American Flag over the National Cemetery on August 17, 1865.

 Copied from NPS/Andersonville National Historic Site 


Civil War Fact:
Most wounds were caused by an elongated bullet made of soft lead, about an inch long, pointed at one end and hollowed out at the base, and called a "minie" ball, having been invented by Capt. Minié of the French army
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Civil War Poetry
In the Prison Pen
     - Herman Melville (1864)
Listless he eyes the palisades
And sentries in the glare;
‘Tis barren as a pelican-beach-
But his world is ended there.
Nothing to do; and vacant hands
Bring on the idiot-pain;
He tries to think – to recollect,
But the blur is on his brain.
Around him swarm the plaining ghosts
Like those on Virgil’s shore 
A wilderness of faces dim,
And pale ones gashed and hoar.
A smiting sun.  No shed, no tree;
He totters to his lair –

A den that sick hands dug in the earth

Ere famine wasted there,

Or, dropping in his place, he swoons,

Walled in by throngs that press,

‘Till forth from the throngs they bear him dead–Dead in his meagerness. 

The History of Gravestones

By Phil T Byrne 


The gravestone, in its most literal form, has been around for thousands of years. There is evidence of Neanderthal man having been buried deep inside caves in pits. Over the centuries, this developed into the practice of placing bodies in the ground and covering them with stone in order to protect the deceased from wild animals. This practice lasted for many years and people continued to place stones on top of the grave, as the superstitious believed this would prevent the dead from rising.

Gravestones have become known by many names. These days they are largely synonymous with headstones, tombstones or gravemarkers, although they have also been referred to as memorial markers, companion headstones, double deep markers and headstone for two. As well as serving as a lasting tribute to a loved one, gravestones are also welcomed by today's genealogists and are eagerly sought out by those keen to trace their family history.

Eventually, the concept of the cemetery evolved. At first these were simple graves dotted near the family home and rough stone or wooden markers were used, showing only the person's name, age and year of their death. By Norman times, the church recognised burial as a welcome source of income and churchyard burials gradually became common practice. Gravestone memorials were usually square and slender, made of sandstone or slate.

In the nineteenth century, with many churchyards growing full to capacity, the concept of tranquil public cemeteries was born. Gravestone design too began to develop, with headstones becoming bigger, more solid and bearing more detailed inscriptions that added to the simple name, age and year of death.

The Victorian age saw the advent of countless elaborate memorial gravestones, many sculptured from white marble, and the cemeteries filled with carved, sorrowful angels, cherubs and ornate crosses. Poignant, personalized inscriptions (or epitaphs), often of a religious nature, abounded. Many headstones bore symbolic images representing faith, glory, hope etc.

Owing to the materials used, gravestones from the Victorian period attracted growths of damaging moss and lichen. By the late nineteenth century, in a move away from marble, headstones began to be made of soft grey granite, although this weathered very quickly. Today the majority of gravestones are made from polished marble or granite and, as cemetery ground-keeping becomes more stringent, there is a gradual return to simple gravestones, lying flat on the earth.

Although materials and design have changed over the centuries, the headstone remains the symbolic way of marking the grave, allowing both an expression of loving remembrance and a means of tracing the life of the deceased.

At gravestones.org.uk, we understand the devastation caused by bereavement, which is why we aim to make choosing the lasting memorial of a gravestone an easy process.

Article Source: http://EzineArticles.com/?expert=Phil_T_Byrne 
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Brass Buttons

 Cindy Freed
Noel Clayton - He fought to hold his country together

Noel Clayton was a young, energetic teen in the summer of 1862. A good looking guy with light hair and blue eyes. He was the second of three children, the first son of his parents William and Lucy. Noel had the benefit of a strong, loving family at home in Kentucky where his father farmed.

Noel's life was uneventful as the political scene changed in Kentucky and across the nation. Living in Carroll County there were frequent debates about his home state's chance of secession. Those debates continued even as the Unionists managed to keep the state from seceding. Through the turmoil Clayton favored pro-union opinion.


All this changed for Noel while visiting a cousin in Cincinnati early in September 1862. The city was threatened by Confederate forces commanded by General Heth and an army of 12,000.  They were moving northward having just occupied Lexington, Frankfort and Maysville. The city of Cincinnati, across the Ohio River, was a nice prize for the Army of Tennessee. For ten days Cincinnati was under martial law as Union forces took command of the city, guided by the strong leadership of General Lewis Wallace. Businesses and shops were closed as citizens dug trenches and prepared their city for battle. Armed men, many of them farmers, known as “Squirrel Hunters” came from surrounding counties to help defend the city. Cincinnati was as prepared as was possible for war and Noel was witness to it all.


The news of Cincinnati's defenses must have travelled quickly. Only a few short days later General Wallace received word Heth was withdrawing troops from Kentucky and Cincinnati was no longer threatened. The city's fortification by the military and citizens alike thwarted a siege. Cincinnatians could resume life as usual.


Yet those ten days made a huge impression on Noel. The war was no longer some distant place or passionate exchanges by local dignitaries and citizens. War had nearly come to him as he visited relatives. Having turned 17 a month earlier did not deter Noel from enlisting. He was ready to fight for his country. He would help defend this nation. This land his parents came to leaving their birthplace, England behind. 


On September 30, 1862 Noel Clayton claiming to be 18 years old, enlisted and joined Co. D 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry (OVC). Noel matured into a man in the next year and became a seasoned, veteran soldier. The 4th participated in the devastating battle at Stone's River in late December 1862 and early January 1863. The regiment was involved in a number of skirmishes over the next several months as well, from Shelbyville to Murfreesboro to Snow Hill. In just months, Noel had participated in battles he could never have imagined, with more yet to come.


As 1863 wore on the 4th was engaged in their most devastating battle to date. It was September, the 19th to 21st, and the place was Chickamauga, in northwest Georgia. During intense fighting that lasted for days Noel was taken prisoner. He along with other prisoners was sent to Andersonville.


There is no doubt Noel had seen and felt this war's depravation. In twelve months he had experienced more death, disease and fatigue then men do in twelve lifetimes. Yet even that hadn't prepared him for his experience at Andersonville prison.


Along with the other men of the 4th who had been taken prisoner, Noel found himself in a remote part of the state. With little food, virtually no medical care and barbaric living conditions the death rate at Andersonville was high. The days passed slowly for prisoners. 


Andersonville was infamous for its atrocious conditions. Originally built for 10,000 prisoners Andersonville housed 33,000 at its peak. Union soldiers barely had shelter, building lean-tos from what material they could find, scraps of wood, bits of clothing, even digging holes in the ground for protection. Yet they still suffered from unrelenting heat, cold and rain. 


The only means of water for prisoners was a small stream that ran through its center. This running water soon became polluted being used for hygiene as well as drinking. Many soldiers came to Andersonville wounded or sick. With a lack of medical care, clean water and food their chance of survival was extremely small and it was where Noah Clayton ended up in September 1863. Nothing is known about his time at Andersonville but given the conditions — much can be imagined.


A little known diary kept by a Union prisoner of Andersonville was published in the Historical Magazine, January 1871. These may be the last words written about Noel Clayton.
Friday July 22nd 1864

Wrote a letter to “Josie Holmes”* at Richmond Va in reply to the one I recd. Yesterday. -- Another man found dead this Morning Near the principal Spring at the foot of My Street. -- Cool & Cloudy and Some indications of rain. The “Johnies” Still busily engaged on fortifications, Form of the rapid improvement of the appearance of works this Morning they Must have worked upon them by Moonlight last Night.

Drew 4. Spoonsfull of Extra Molasses — Another tunnel found out and Stopt — 

Noel Clayton of Co "D" 4th Ohio Cavalry 

died yesterday. I took his Parents Address and 

when I reach our lines will acquaint them of his 

death, his fathers address Carrollton Ky W. H. Clayton

On another page of the little book appears the entry referred to:
"W.H. Clayton 

“Carrollton Kentucky

“Noel Clayton

“Co D.' 4th Ohio Cav.

“Died July 21st”

And on another page the following appears:
“Mrs. W.H. Clayton

“Carrollton “Kentucky. 

“Noel Clayton died at Camp Sumter Thursday July 21st “1864 of Chronic Diarrhea” (1)

Belying his youth, Noel Clayton was a strong, honorable man. He stepped up amid trying circumstances, living in a border state that saw frequent clashes between pro-Union and pro-Confederacy factions. He served his country well and lived out his final days in miserable conditions. Even though he was buried in a mass grave at Andersonville, he is remembered on his family's headstone at Spring Grove Cemetery in Cincinnati, OH. It reads:
Noel
Born Aug. 3, 1845
Died July 1864
Lies at Andersonville, GA
A member of 4th OVC
Died in the service of his country
[image: image13.jpg]



Noel Clayton’s grave at Andersonville National Cemetery, GA. Photo courtesy of Bill Krebs

Noel Clayton and so many soldiers like him, fought to hold this country together. We live as united states today because of men like Noel Clayton. We honor them and promise never to forget their service. 

*The author's cousin Josie Holmes lived in Richmond, VA.

(1) The Historical magazine, and notes and queries concerning the antiquities, history, and biography of America. 2d ser., v. 1-10, Jan. 1867-Aug. 1871 January 1871 Vol. 9. pg. 4. online edition:
http://archive.org/stream/2ndhistoricalmag09morruoft#page/n7/mode/2up 
· Artillery was used extensively, but only about 10 percent of the wounded were the victims of artillery fire.

Pictures from the War
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Old Capitol Prison- Matthew Brady collection
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General Ulysses S Grant and staff – Matthew Brady collection
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Removing wounded – Matthew Brady collection
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Research Tip
Bob Venable

HUMINT (Human Intelligence) is what every spy agency in the world thirsts for; more eyes and ears on the ground in all the world’s hot spots.  In a lot of ways, the same could be said of finding graves of our soldiers in small local cemeteries.  The grave markers can often tell us a lot about the deceased – correct spelling of name, dates of birth and death, parents’ and spouse’s names, etc.  But in these small cemeteries, plot numbers are not usually marked and you need someone to guide you to the specific grave.  Normally no-one is around except a caretaker who inevitably is never there on the day you are.  But once in a while you get lucky as related in this grave hunt story.


It was 10:38 a.m., on that mild April 16, 2012 day.  The rain had ceased but there was still a slight drizzling mist.  I was standing between two rows of graves searching for the marker for a 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry soldier who died in 1910.  My brother Chuck was across the narrow driveway doing the same, also without any luck.  We had tried to find a caretaker at the small concrete block building that sat by the road into the cemetery, but it was locked.  No one appeared to be inside though an old red pickup truck sat next to the structure.  Not having a plot number for our soldier’s grave, we determined to walk the entire Shiloh, Ohio Cemetery searching for it.  Shiloh is a small town a few miles northwest of Dayton, Ohio on State Route 48.
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Sign at Shiloh Cemetery, Dayton, Ohio


And then he appeared out of nowhere, from the building wearing a blue slicker and a beat up, dirty baseball cap with the lettering “Tennessee Football” stitched in the front in orange – the University of Tennessee colors.  “Ya lookin for anyone in perticlar” he said in his best Knoxville twang.  I replied yes, I was a member of the 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry Descendants Association and was looking for the grave of a man named Frederick “Frank” Reuber, an old Civil War soldier who is supposed to be buried somewhere in the cemetery.  He indicated I should follow him into the building, which I did.  He said he recognized that name, but kept pronouncing it as Reuger.  After carefully hanging his rain gear on a stick he had arranged at the rear of a serious looking lawn tractor, the man eventually pulled a typewritten list of names from a metal box on the floor and laid it on the top of a barrel.  But before looking at the names he proceeded to inform me that he was originally from Tennessee, moved to Ohio in 1953, retired after 30 years with the Dayton Police Department, worked for Dayton National Cemetery for a number of years, and had been at Shiloh Cemetery for seven years, taking care of the grounds as best a one man crew could.  The grounds were well kept, so he obviously was doing a good job.  He also showed me some mushrooms he picked that morning in the cemetery.  I said he should be careful because if they were the wrong kind they could make him sick or kill him.  He said he wasn’t worried because he gave them all away.  Nobody complained to him yet.



After a few more minutes, and after stating he had relatives in Somerset, Kentucky, the old man consulted his list of names and quickly found Frank Reuber, his wife Edith (5/30/1844  Ohio – 3/27/1924 Dayton), a son named Samuel (3/25/1882 Dayton – 3/2/1934 Dayton), and a daughter  named Mae (5/1/1873 Dayton – 3/2/1948 Dayton) who married Louis C. Spohr (1868 – 1937). All are buried in Shiloh Cemetery, Frank, Edith and Samuel in Section 2, Lot 76, with Frank in Space 7, and Mae and her husband buried in another section. 


Frank Reuber was born on March 4, 1835 to Mr. & Mrs. Henry Reuber in Hanover, Germany.  His occupation was as an engineer.  According to his death certificate, he died on August 4, 1910 in Dayton. Cause of death was a hemorrhage due to carcinoma of the face which had afflicted him for two years.


Despite knowing Frank’s plot number, the old man stated there was a problem.  Section 2 was right outside the door of the building.  But another Section 2 was across the road where Chuck was searching.  He offered no explanation as to why there were two Section 2s, as if that were a normal occurrence in Shiloh, Ohio.  I hailed Chuck and we proceeded to look around the area near the building.  The old man was delighted when he found Frank’s grave.  The marker was a typical upright military stone with shield, and the lettering “Sergt. Frank Reuber, Co. K., 4 Ohio Cav.”  It was heavily encrusted with moss and other material, making it virtually impossible to read.  The old man retrieved a wire brush from the building and proceeded to scrape away the crud.  When he was finished, the marker looked almost brand new.  I took a number of pictures of the marker, including this one. 
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Grave of SGT Frank Reuber, Co. K


It was time to leave Shiloh Cemetery because Chuck and I wanted to stop at Dayton National Cemetery and it was threatening rain again.  But the old man wanted to talk.  He mentioned that the sister of comedian Jonathan Winter’s is buried in the cemetery.  They were from Dayton.  Next, he pointed out a huge Elm tree that had to be 100 feet tall.  He said it was 100 years old and had escaped the ravages of Dutch elm disease which killed over 77 million American Elms between 1930 and 1970.  Then he took us to the grave of PVT George L. Heikes, Co. C, 1st OVI, who was wounded at the Battle of Shiloh, TN on April 7, 1862.  He died of those wounds on April 29, 1862 at Jefferson Barracks Hospital, near St. Louis, Missouri at age 20 years, 2 months, 9 days.   His large monument marker was surrounded the day we visited by flags and flowers because they had had a recent 150 years commemoration for him at the cemetery.  Interestingly, according to this web page (http://www.rootsweb. ancestry.com/~ohmontgs/shiloh/shiloh.html) in January, 1854, a child of Jacob Heikes was the first burial in the Shiloh Cemetery.  Jacob and Catherine Heikes were the parents of PVT George Heikes so presumably, George and this child were brothers.  George’s grave is pictured at http://www.findagrave.com/ cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GSsr=161& GScid=43415&GRid=84425271&
As we approached my car, the old man flipped the wire brush to me and said “Keep that; you may need it in the future.”  
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Grave of PVT George Heikes

As we approached my car, the old man flipped the wire brush to me and said “Keep that; you may need it in the future.”  I thanked him but he waved it off and said “come again.”  


Trips to cemeteries often turn out to be adventures, as was the time spent in Shiloh.  But I wouldn’t trade that day for anything, thanks to the kindness of an old man I never met before and will probably never see again. 
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POW Camps


Bill Krebs
Andersonville: the Death Camp of the South

In November 1863, the Confederate States government built a large stockade prison camp in south-central Georgia.  From February 1864, when the first prisoners arrived, to April 1865, when the war ended, more than 49,000 Union soldiers were confined there. Of these more than 13,000 perished from disease, malnutrition, overcrowding, and exposure. The prison's official name was Camp Sumter, but people called it Andersonville.


Andersonville Prison, just a short walk to the town bearing that name, was by far the worst of the POW camps in existence during the Civil War.  It’s a name that has become synonymous with Auschwitz.   Of the 49,485 prisoners who entered its gate, 13,737 of them died there giving it a 27.85% death rate.  The closest that the Northern prisons had to this rate was the prison at Elmira, NY, where 2,963 of the 12,122 Confederate prisoners died giving it a 24% mortality rate.  At one point towards the end of the camp, the rate rose to an appalling 50%.  How did this come about?  How could Americans and especially the “Southern Chivalry” harbor such a place?  Circumstances beyond their control did play a key role in many of the deaths.  Ironically, thousands died from chronic diarrhea while they were literally sitting on top of the cure.  Kaolinite, which helps form the Georgia red clay was for generations the main ingredient for Kaopectate.
Description


Andersonville was opened in February 1864, and originally covered about 16 1/2 acres of land located sloping down to a small creek, which one can step over, enclosed by a 15-foot  high stockade. In June 1864 the stockade was enlarged to 26 1/2 acres. It was a rectangle measuring 1,620 feet by 779 feet. There were only two entrances, both of which were on the west side of the stockade.  One entrance was known as the "north entrance" and the other named the "south entrance".  [image: image20.jpg]& s P

Drawing from memory of former prisoner Thomas O'Dea.




A light fence known as "the dead line" was erected approximately 19 feet inside the stockade wall.   This fence was waist high and looked like a hitching post reminiscent of the cowboy movies and ran parallel to the stockade walls. The fence, made up of posts set in the ground connected by a single line of horizontal planks, had been constructed to keep prisoners away from the walls. The area between the dead line and the stockade walls was off limits to prevent prisoners from trying to tear down the walls or tunnel underneath them. Crossing the dead line without permission was strictly forbidden. Captain Henry Wirz, who was in command of the stockade, ordered his guards to shoot any man caught on the wrong side of it.  However, this was not unique to Andersonville.  A similar fate faced Confederate prisoners in Northern camps which employed the same "dead line" fence.  Anyone crossing or even touching this line was shot without further command of any kind by sentries located in the lookout towers called “pigeon roosts”.
The Start

During 1863, the Rebels had captured so many prisoners from Chickamauga and Gettysburg and other sites that a new POW camp was built in central Georgia to be called Camp Sumter to help hold these prisoners.  General John Winder, a West Point graduate and veteran of the Mexican War, was in [image: image56.jpg]
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command of all military prisons in Alabama and Georgia which for a time, made his headquarters at Andersonville.  In November 1863, he selected his son, Sidney Winder, to find a suitable location for the new prison to help relieve overcrowding in Libby and Belle Isle in Richmond. His selection of Andersonville was based on its proximity to the railroad and false information given to him that the location had a "large supply of beautiful clear water." In addition, Andersonville had a population of less than 20 people, and was, therefore, unable to resist the building of such a facility.  The General's nephew, Captain Richard Winder, was given the responsibility of constructing the prison in December of the same year. Captain Winder adopted a prison design which he felt was large enough to hold 10,000 prisoners.

Slaves from local farms were impressed in January 1864 to chop down trees and dig ditches for construction of the prison stockade. The original stockade enclosure was approximately 1010 feet long and 780 feet wide. The walls of the stockade were constructed of pine logs cut on site, hewn square, and set vertically in a wall trench dug roughly five feet deep. According to historical accounts, the poles were hewn to a thickness of eight to 12 inches and "matched so well on the inner line of the palisades as to give no glimpse of the outer world"

Prisoners began arriving in late February of 1864 and by early June the prison population had soared to 20,000. It was then decided that a larger prison was necessary, and by mid-June work was begun to increase its size. The walls were extended 610 feet to the north, enclosing an additional 10 acres. The expansion was built by Union prisoners, made up of 100 whites and 30 Blacks in about 2 weeks. On July 1, 1863, the expansion was opened.  The prisoners eagerly tore down the original north stockade wall and used the timbers for fuel and building materials. It was not to be enlarged enough as by August, over 33,000 Union prisoners were imprisoned there.

Rations


Rations at Andersonville were scant at best; prisoners received slightly more than a pound of cornmeal and a pound of beef or a small portion of bacon each day, but this was what the prison guards received as well.  Sometimes beef was issued to the prisoners.  Survivors have said that the beef was always rancid and could be smelled at a great distance off.  The smell did not bother the long time prisoners whose only thoughts were of quantity and not quality.  The new arrivals found the aroma nauseating.  The bones were sold inside the stockade for twenty-five cents apiece and had to be pounded in order to extract the oil they contained.  After the pounding, they were thrown into a make shift pot to make soup. Confederate soldiers in the field were also subsisting on the same inadequate rations and dying of malnutrition.  But, while the Rebel guards could cook their rations, the Yankee prisoners had precious little wood in which to build a fire and most had to eat their rations raw. The Rebel soldiers had plenty of clean drinking water while the unfortunate prisoner only had a small stream to get their water.  The water supply from Stockade Creek became polluted when too many Union prisoners were housed by the Confederate authorities within the prison walls.  Part of the creek was used as a sink and the men were forced to wash themselves in the creek.  The creek was also used as the latrine, making the water unfit for any consumption.
Raiders

Prison guards, disease, starvation and exposure were not all that prisoners had to deal with. There was also a group of prisoners, who called themselves the Andersonville Raiders (estimations range in numbers to be anywhere from 200 to 400), preyed on the other prisoners, beating them with clubs and stealing anything of value they might have. The Raiders particularly liked the new arrivals, or "fresh fish," who frequently still had most or all of the goods in their possession when captured. 
June 28, 1864
To what extremes bad men will go to secure their own comfort was fully illustrated in the doings of a band of robbers in Andersonville, or "Mosby's Marauders", as the rest of the prisoners call them. Their rendezvous was near the southwest end of the prison.

John W. Urban

Private, Co. D,

1st Pa. Infantry
They killed to get what they wanted. Later another group rose up, organized by Peter "Big Pete" Aubrey, calling themselves the "Regulators", with the permission of Captain Wirz, stopped the Raiders. Nearly all of the Raiders were caught, who were then tried by the Regulator's judge, Peter McCullough, and a jury selected from a group of new prisoners. This jury, upon finding the Raiders guilty, set punishments that included running the gauntlet, being sent to the stocks, ball and chain and, in the cases of Willie Collins, John Sarsfield, Charles Curtis, W.R. Riekson, Patrick Delaney, and A. Munn, were sentenced to hang.  A gallows was built and the sentenced carried out on 11 July 1864 in the middle of the stockade. It’s doubtful that these were their actual names, since many of the Raiders had a pattern of accepting bounty for enlisting and then deserting in order to do the same thing over again to another regiment. The six hanged Raiders are buried apart from the graves in the National Cemetery of the other prisoners who died in honor. On Memorial Day, while the other graves are decorated with flags, the Raiders graves are left undecorated in dishonor.
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Hanging of the raiders and their graves
Conditions


On July 18 in a letter to Richmond, General Winder begged for $100,000 for the prisoners and $75,000 for pay of the officers and men of the guard. On July 21 he reported that there were now 29,201 prisoners in the stockade including 1,735 in the hospital. He reported that he had a complement of 2,421 guards with 517 on sick call each day.


The conditions were so poor that in July, 1864 Captain Wirz paroled five Union soldiers to deliver a petition signed by the majority of Andersonville's prisoners asking that the Union reinstate prisoner exchanges. John Warren, 7th Wisconsin Artillery, wrote that the document declared, "We earnestly yet respectfully pray that some action be taken immediately to effect our speedy release, either on parole or by exchange, the dictates of both humanity and justice alike demanding it on the part of our Government. We shall look forward with a hopeful confidence that something will be done speedily in this matter, believing that a proper statement of the facts is all that is necessary to secure a redress of the grievance complained of." The petition was taken to Washington by prisoners on August 4. On August 21 Union General Ulysses Grant wrote Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton, "Please inform General Foster that under no circumstances will he be authorized to make an exchange of prisoners of war. Exchanges simply reinforce the enemy at once, whilst we do not get the benefit for two or three months, and lose the majority entirely." Thus the request in the petition was denied and the Union soldiers, who had given their oath to do so, returned to Andersonville to report this to Capt Wirz and the other prisoners.

Private Northrup, of the 7th Connecticut Infantry, wrote, "One poor boy near cried all night and wished to die and suffer no longer; he is an awful object; his clothing is gone but a rag of a shirt; his body is a mere frame; his hair has fallen out from his head; his scurvy ankles and feet are as large as his waist. I never saw a sight more appalling. Than the awful thought that he is a man, somebody's darling boy, dead, and yet breathing."  

Among the greatest scourges at Andersonville were the lice, flies and maggots. They were in the prisoners' clothes, on their bodies, in their shebangs, in the sand and in the food. Charles C. Fosdick, 5th Iowa Infantry, complained that, "Thus, night and day for dreary weeks, lengthening into long months, we were continually annoyed by the lice, maggots, flies and mosquitoes until our aggravations in this respect became almost beyond endurance."

Religion in the camp


Many turned to religion for comfort. There were numerous religious gatherings among the prisoners.  Boston Corbett, who in 1865 would go on to shoot John Wilkes Booth in a barn, was among those doing the ministering. There were two Catholic priests, including Father Peter Whelan, working among the prisoners. Reverend H. Claverevel wrote, "The religious work among the prisoners found expression in the throngs of individuals we met here and there, bowed down in the attitude of prayer or listening to a comrade who was reading from the Bible or addressing to them words of exhortation."
Concern


During July Confederate officials at Andersonville had plenty of reasons for concern. General William T. Sherman's army was near Atlanta and prison officials feared he would head toward Andersonville. They were also concerned that the prisoners, fueled by reports of new arrivals, would attempt a mass uprising. During this time slaves from surrounding farms were brought in to fell trees and dig additional earthworks in anticipation of a cavalry attack.


This concern was not unfounded. General Sherman did order two cavalry units to ride south and cut the Macon railroad. He also granted permission to General George Stoneman, who commanded one of these units, to advance on Macon itself. Stoneman planned to free the Union officers at Camp Oglethorpe in Macon, and then make his way south to free the 29,000 prisoners at Andersonville. The attempt failed. The prison's teeming population had been increased, not freed. During this period, a total of 1,200 prisoners were added to the population by the last day of July.

Dying by the Hundreds

In August, 2,933 would die. There were 1,305 sick in the hospital and 5,100 ill in the stockade. The average number of men in the stockade was now 32,899, each having less than six square feet to call his own. In a letter to Colonel Chandler on August 1, Captain Wirz wrote, "As long as 30,000 men are confined in any one enclosure the proper policing is altogether impossible. A long confinement had depressed the spirits of thousands, and they are utterly indifferent. Hoping your official report will make such an impression with the authorities at Richmond that they will issue the necessary orders to enable us to get what we so badly need." The chief surgeon at the post and Captain Wirz kept directing letters to Richmond pleading for badly needed medicine, food, tents, tools and lumber, to no avail. 


The prisoners were dying at a rate of 100 every day. When a man died a label was attached to his body, listing his name and regiment. He was then taken to the Dead House, or more properly the dead yard. The Dead House was located opposite the South Gate. When a person died he was buried naked, since the clothes were needed by the living prisoners both to wear and to build shebangs. Each day the dead were delivered to the graveyard in a lumber wagon. Twenty bodies constituted a load. The corpses were carried in full sight of the stockade, piled like pork, with limbs sticking out of the wagon

The prisoners died in their shebangs, in the hospital, and in the swamp. A man could go to sleep at night and find two of his tent-mates dead in the morning. Some expired so quietly that it would have been impossible to determine when their last breath was drawn.


The pall of death that hung over the 26-1/2 acres in August was stronger than any other month that the prison was in operation. The gravediggers were kept busy and listing of the names of the dead by a New York Cavalry Sergeant, Dorence Atwater became a 24-hour job. As Melvin Grisby, Co. F, 23rd Kentucky Infantry, wrote in his diary in August, "I bought a chance to go out with a dead body. I had to carry the end of the stretcher on which the head lay. The stretcher was an old gunny-sack nailed to poles. The sack part was too short. The feet hung over it at one end and the head at the other. There had been no tender loving hand to close those eyes when the last breath had gone. They were open and glaring. The head hung over my end of the stretcher and the eyes glared up at me. They haunted me for weeks. I never bought another corpse."

Escape


Of all the pastimes, perhaps none was as popular as prison escape, or at least the thought of it. Some attempts were elaborate. POWs often feigned sickness or sometimes death in the hope that they would be carried outside the stockade walls and left for dead. Once outside, prisoners would simply walk away.  Tunneling was, by far, the most widespread method of escape.  Escape attempts continued throughout the war. But the majority of them failed. Prisoners unlucky enough to be caught were punished severely.
The End


By early September, Sherman's troops had occupied Atlanta and the threat of Union raids on Andersonville caused the Confederacy to transfer of most of the Union prisoners to other camps in Georgia and South Carolina. By mid-November, all but about 1500 prisoners had been transferred out of Andersonville, and only a few guards remained to police them. Transfers to Andersonville in late December increased the numbers of prisoners once again, but even then, the prison population totaled only about 5000 prisoners. The number of prisoners here would remain this low until the war ended in April of 1865. During the 15 months during which Andersonville was operated, over 13,000 Union prisoners died there of malnutrition, exposure, and disease; Andersonville became synonymous with the atrocities which both Northern and Southern soldiers experienced as prisoners of war. 
Providence Spring
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The prisoners dug holes, not only for escape but for water. Some dug holes just to get out of the Georgia heat. The Yankee prisoners suffered in the heat of the South while the Rebel men suffered from the northern cold. Many of the holes would cave in and the unlucky prisoner would be suffocated. (At the turn of the century a storm revealed two bodies buried beneath the stockade site.) During the hot summer months of July and August, the water holes were drying up and the prisoners were praying for water in earnest. On the night of August 9 there was a heavy rain. The stream changed into a river and tore down the stockade wall where it ran into and out of the prison. Two cannon shots rang out from Star Fort and a number of the sentinels fired at the prisoners thinking they would make a break out of the stockade. 
 
Some of the prisoners did plunge into the flood to bring out floating timber or pieces of boards that had come down. The guards stood in line of battle for more than an hour, and when the rain ceased, they only had time to temporarily repair the damage before night. The storm had cleaned out "Stockade Branch" and the entire swamp inside the prison. W.F. Lyon, Company C, 9th Minnesota Infantry, Said of it, "When the Almighty cleans house he puts housekeepers to shame." The storm had created a stream of water inside the deadline just below the north gate. An ingenious prisoner managed to get part of a sapling and used it to form a trough that reached from the outside of the deadline to the spring. With this trough he led the water like an old-fashioned eaves trough. The prisoners now had access to the spring water. The stream was named "Providence Spring."
Photographs


On August 17, 1864, a Confederate photographer, A.J. Riddle, arrived at the prison. Many of the prisoners remembered and commented on him in later years. He took photographs from sentry boxes at different points around the stockade.  It is his pictures that you find showing the prison and prisoners.
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Aftermath 


After the war ended, the plot of ground near the prison where over 13,000 Union soldiers had been buried was administered by the United States government as a National Cemetery. 
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Andersonville National Cemetery during a rare snowfall.  Photo courtesy of National Park service
The prison itself was reverted back to private hands and was planted in cotton and other crops until the land was bought by the Grand Army of the Republic of Georgia in 1891.

The high mortality rate was not deliberate, but the result of ignorance of nutrition and proper sanitation on both sides of the conflict. "Intent and malice were never intended," said James Robertson, a history professor at Virginia Tech, in Blacksburg. 

Yet ignorance—coupled with shortages of food, shelter, and clothing, (the basic materials of life)—produced a hotbed of disease and death for inmates. While previous wars had harbored similar prison conditions, the Civil War was unique in the sheer numbers of men imprisoned. 

A Union propaganda campaign following the war decried the dire conditions of Confederate prisons, while ignoring its own.  "This subject [prisons] is still a very, very hot issue today, which explains why so little scholarship has been done," said Robertson ,"Americans had never been faced with what to do with more than 100 men in captivity before," The hundreds of thousands prisoners simply overwhelmed both side's ability to administer the prisons adequately.
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A survivor of Andersonville, 1865
Persons at Andersonville
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Father Peter Whelan 
 Father Whelan first became chaplain of the Montgomery Guards, an Irish company raised in Savannah for the First Georgia Volunteer Regiment when he was 60. In June 1864, he arrived at Andersonville and remained for four months during the hottest season of the year, and the period of the greatest mortality rate. He ministered to the sick and dying in so much heat that he had to have his head covered with an umbrella.
When the six raiders were sentenced to hang, he tried to get a stay of execution. Failing at that, he prayed for them as the trap was sprung.

When he left in late September, he borrowed $16,000 in Confederate money and purchased ten thousand pounds of flour, which was then baked into bread and distributed at the prison hospital.

The prisoners never forgot him and he is recalled by many in their memoirs. Father Whelan died on February 6, 1871 at the age of sixty-nine.
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Dorence Atwater 

For the prisoners who died at Andersonville, record keeping, at best, was shabby. There was a great concern that after the war, relatives would not be able to locate and identify the graves of their loved ones. One prisoner, Dorence Atwater, of the 2nd New York Cavalry, took upon himself to keep a record of all the prisoners who died there. Sent to Andersonville in March of 1864, Atwater was detailed as a clerk to the surgeon who recorded all the daily deaths. Secretly, Atwater compiled a duplicate list of names and regiments of the deceased, keying them to numbers that were inscribed on the hastily erected posts or boards that were placed over the graves. He hid and guarded the papers with extreme care.  With the war over, Atwater eventually saw this list of 12,912 names published, thereby enabling proper identification of the graves. Thanks to his efforts, there are only 921 graves marked “unknown” He received no reward for his efforts, but Dorence Atwater was indeed a true hero of the Civil War.
“He hid and guarded the papers with extreme care”
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Captain Henry Wirz
Captain Henry Wirz, born in Switzerland, immigrated to the United States in 1849. He married in 1854 and moved to Louisiana, When the war started he enlisted in the 4th Louisiana Infantry, Co. A.  He received a severe wound in his right arm and was assigned to work for General John Winder, superintendent of military prisons. Captain Wirz was assigned command of the military prisons in Richmond, Virginia.


In April 1864, he was again assigned to the command of the newly built military prison at Andersonville. His area of command covered only the inside the stockade. Not having direct control over guards or supplies, he could do little about securing better food rations or improving living conditions. Even given those limitations, he still willingly chose to withhold already inadequate rations as a disciplinary measure. Captain Wirz was arrested by Federal officers in Americus, Georgia in May 1865.


After the war, he was tried for violations of the laws of war. He was the only person to be tried for war crimes.  His trial, held by a military tribunal, took place between August 23 and October 18, 1865. He was convicted and sentenced to death. The sentence was carried out on November 10, 1865 and he was buried in the yard of the Old Arsenal in Washington, D.C. His remains were later moved to Mt. Olivet Cemetery near Washington.
He was the only person to be tried for war crimes
Thomas P. "Boston" Corbett
Thomas H. ("Boston") Corbett was born in London, England, in 1832. In 1839 he and his family immigrated to New York. After his wife died in childbirth he moved to Boston. It was here that he became an evangelical Christian, joined the Methodist Episcopal Church, and changed his name to Boston. He became an extremist in his views (some have put forward the theory that fumes from the mercury that was then used in the hatter trade caused him to have an unbalanced mind). On July 16, 1858, either as a tribute to the memory of his late wife or to avoid the temptation of prostitutes, he took a pair of scissors and castrated himself.


When war broke out, Boston eagerly enlisted as a private in Co I, 12th NY Militia for a term of 3 months.  He was discharged in August, He again enlisted in September, 1863, this time as a private in Co L, 16th NY Cavalry.  He was captured by Col. John S. Mosby, at Centreville, VA on June 24, 1864.  He was sent to Andersonville where he was held prisoner until he was exchanged at Savannah on November 19, 1864.  Returning to his regiment, he found that he had been promoted to sergeant.


After President Lincoln’s assassination, he was one of the 26 men from the 16th NY Cavalry to pursue John Wilkes Booth.  On April 26th, they cornered Booth and David Herold in a tobacco barn. When the barn was set on fire to force them out, Herold surrendered but Booth refused to do so.  Corbett took his revolver and shot Booth “in the back of the head, about an inch below the spot where his shot had entered the head of Mr. Lincoln”.  Thus Boston Corbett earned himself a name in history.


Later he testified for the prosecuting attorney in the trial of Henry Wirz.
Members of the 4th at Andersonville

Pvt. Jacob Bowser, Co C  - survived
Pvt. Benjamin Brown, Co L - survived

Pvt. Noel Clayton, Co D – died

Pvt. William Earles, Co G – died

Pvt. Joseph E Ellis, Co L & G – survived

Sgt. James C Gage, Co B – survived

Pvt. William Herbert, Co L – died

Cpl. John B Hickman, Co D – survived

Pvt. John B Lautmeyer, Co M – survived, died on Sultana
Cpl. William H LeCount, Co L - survived
Pvt. Asa Mallsbury, Co A – died
Pvt. Edward C Middleton, Co I - survived

Pvt. Ernst Miller, Co E – died

Pvt. Joseph Nolen, Co H – survived

Cpl. Casper Saffer, Co L – survived

Sgt. James Short, Co A – died

Pvt. John E Smith, Co F – survived

1st Sgt. William H Smith, Co K - survived

Cpl. Joseph Stephenson, Co L – survived

Cpl. David Sutton, Co A – died

Cpl. Amos Swem, Co L – survived

Sgt. Jefferson Thompson, Co G – survived

Pvt. Thomas Wilcox, Co M – survived

Sgt. William C Williams, Co L – survived

Pvt. Nathan L Wood, Co L – died

Pvt. Eugene Wulsin, Co A – died 
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In Their Own Words
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Imprisoned - Cpl James Pike
Pvt. James Pike (later Cpl.) was captured near Augusta, GA in June 1864 He was sent to the Charlestown, SC jail where we pick up his story:


Our rations were a pint of meal, and half a pound of meat per day, and when we failed to get the former, we had rice or cow peas dealt out in their stead.  Much of the time, we failed to get meat, and often our meal would be so mushy that we could scarcely swallow it, although always ravenously hungry.  The rations were always cooked for us, and brought once a day; and we had our choice either to eat them up at once, or set part of them aside.  We could not, however keep it long, as the foul air in the cells would spoil the best of food in a few hours; and we, therefore, speedily acquired the habit of eating but once a day.  The quantity of food given us, to tell the truth, was not more than sufficient for one light meal.


The Sisters of Mercy came to see us, after they found out our condition, as often as the jailor would allow them to do so, or as they could find time.  They always brought some little delicacy, and to them we were indebted for about all the medicine we got.  We were badly afflicted with scurvy, and they sent us potatoes and vinegar, which nearly cured us; while a priest – Father John Moore – supplied us with books, thereby giving us an opportunity to spend our time profitably and agreeably.  We were enabled to get light enough to read, provided the sky was clear, by sitting at the grating door, which we were allowed to do four or five hours each day; but if the sky was shrouded in clouds, the gloom of the tower was like that of a dungeon.


In cell No. 8 was a Union man named Webb, in cell No. 10, an old fisherman, and in No. 11, an Irishman, all of whom had been incarcerated for aiding our officers to escape; and it was through Mrs. Webb that the Sisters of Mercy heard of us.


During the first sixty days of our imprisonment we could get no water with which to wash our clothing; and during the entire winter we slept on the floor without covering, but a short time before we left Webb was released, and he gave us his blanket, and a Mrs. Trainor got an opportunity to smuggle in another one.  The jail, too, was literally swarming with vermin, and to add to our discomfort, the inmates of the jail were keeping up a continual noise, so that rest was nearly impossible.  In addition, when the air was full of fog or clouds, the inner work of the jail was always streaming with water, which collected on them, and which caused the floors to be continually damp.


The cell in which we were confined so long had a front of eleven feet, with a rear six feet four inches broad, in the tower, and its width was also six feet four inches; and often, for weeks together, we were not allowed to step beyond the doors of this narrow cage.


But why add more relative to the horrors of this filthy pen?  He who has never experienced the torture of a Southern prison-house can form no idea of the wretchedness inclosed; while the tens of thousands who have been incarcerated therein, but who have been fortunate enough to escape death, need no words that they may appreciate the cruelties inflicted.

Taken from The Scout and Ranger: Being the Personal Adventures of Corporal Pike of the Fourth Ohio Cavalry, chapter xxxiv pgs 367-369. 


Can you guess what this Civil War article is?  Answer on page 50. 
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Some family trees have beautiful leaves, and some have just a bunch of nuts. Remember, it is the nuts that make the tree worth shaking. 
~Author Unknown
General Stoneman’s Raid to Free the Prisoners at Andersonville


In July 1864, Major General William T Sherman had almost completely surrounded Atlanta. There was still one problem which needed to be solved: Confederate supplies were still being transported into Atlanta by way of the Macon rail lines. Sherman realized that he must cut this supply line if he was to capture Atlanta quickly. Sherman ordered his cavalry commanders, General George Stoneman, and Generals Kenner Garrard and Edward McCook to move their forces, totaling about 9,000 troops, rapidly south to destroy the supply lines and communications between Atlanta and Macon. 

After receiving his orders from General Sherman to destroy Hood’s communications and supply lines, General Stoneman asked General Sherman for permission to liberate the Union prisoners being held at Andersonville and Macon after completing his mission. General Sherman, who was sympathetic to the predicament of the prisoners held at Andersonville, and believing that Stoneman’s plan had some merit, agreed. Concerning Stoneman’s plan, Sherman said, “at the moment almost of starting General Stoneman addressed me a letter asking permission, after fulfilling his orders and breaking the road, to be allowed, with his command proper, to proceed to Macon and Andersonville and release our prisoners of war confined at those points. There was something most captivating in the idea, and the execution was within the bounds of probable success.” Sherman continued by telling Stoneman, “if you can bring back to the army any or all of those prisoners of war, it will be an achievement that will entitle you, and your command, to the love and admiration of the whole country.” 

The plan was to divide the force, sending Generals Stoneman and Kenner Garrard’s cavalry around Atlanta to the left to McDonough, and General Ed McCook’s troops to the right toward Fayetteville, ultimately linking up at the Macon road near Lovejoy’s Station. However, at the last moment, the plan changed, calling for Garrard’s unit to follow Stoneman’s force only as far as Flat Rock. The reasoning behind this was for Garrard to support Stoneman’s column and to act as a buffer between the Union forces and General Wheeler’s cavalry in the event the Confederates caught on to the scheme. This had the effect of reducing Stoneman’s column to about 2,200 men. As Stoneman’s detachment set off on July 27th skirting to the right of Stone Mountain and continuing through Covington, they were spotted by Rebel pickets. After a skirmish near Monticello, Stoneman’s column continued south toward Clinton, Georgia. When they arrived at Clinton, General Stoneman ordered a detachment of the 14th Illinois Cavalry to proceed to Gordon in an attempt to destroy as much as the Confederate rail line as they could. He then proceeded with the rest of his force to Macon. On the evening of July 29th, approaching Macon, he met with heavy resistance from Rebel militia consisting of over 3000 men. 

Stoneman discovered that General Wheeler’s cavalry unit was advancing upon his rear, effectively cutting him off from the Union forces to the north of his position. He realized his predicament and ordered a retreat back to Clinton in an attempt to link up with other Union troops and defeat the Confederate cavalry closing in on him. He reached Clinton on July 30th and, after some skirmishes in which he recaptured Clinton and freed some Union prisoners who had been caught earlier, bedded down for the night. The following day he continued north toward Hillsboro and met a large, entrenched Confederate force which blocked his way. Also chasing him from the south were more Rebels, which threatened to surround him. General Stoneman decided that his best course of action was to try to pierce the Rebel lines in front of him in an effort to break out of the trap. In spite of repeated attempts to punch through the enemy lines, General Stoneman found himself out-manned and outgunned. By 4:00 pm on July 31st, some managed to penetrate the weakest part of the Rebel force to the southeast and escape.  General Stoneman and the remaining 700 troops continued to fight until they had exhausted all of their ammunition, at which time they surrendered. Any hope of now liberating the prisoners at Andersonville was completely shattered. 

President Ulysses S Grant, in his memoirs, characterized Stoneman’s raid and its aftermath as follows: “In the latter part of July Sherman sent Stoneman to destroy the railroads to the south, about Macon. He was then to go east and, if possible, release our prisoners about Andersonville. There were painful stories current at the time about the great hardships these prisoners had to endure in the way of general bad treatment, in the way in which they were housed, and in the way in which they were fed. Great sympathy was felt for them; and it was thought that even if they could be turned loose upon the country it would be a great relief to them. But the attempt proved a failure.” 
Could Stoneman’s raid to free the prisoners at Andersonville have succeeded? It’s questionable.  The raid was doomed to failure no matter what because there had been no careful planning and coordination on General Stoneman’s part. Apparently, there was no consideration given to how Stoneman was supposed to handle the resistance from Confederate units between Atlanta and the prisons, like Wheeler’s cavalry. Plus, Stoneman had very little intelligence about how the prisons were fortified, how many troops were guarding the prisoners, and exactly how he would overcome the defenses. Even if he was successful in freeing the prisoners, there was no plan or consideration given to how his force was going to move 30,000 sick and malnutrition men 100 miles to safety, through territory swarming with Confederate troops. 
· The Union Army lost approximately 360,000 men during the war. Only 110,070 of these men were listed as having been killed in battles. The remainder was listed as having died of disease or other causes.

· The Confederate forces lost approximately 258,000 men with 94,000 listed as having died in battles while 164,000 were listed as having died of disease or other causes. The figures of the Confederate's will never be known for sure because many records were either lost or destroyed.
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The History of the U S Cavalry
 - Bill Krebs
The Indian Wars


Fighting among the white man and the Indians is not something new.  Indians and settlers have fought over the land ever since the white man first settled in the New World.  There were battles at Jamestown, VA, St Augustine, FL, and other places where the settlers landed and started to build their cabins.


Later, while the English and French were having it out with each other, they managed to involve the English and French colonies.  This war came to be called by those colonies: the French and Indian War.  It was started in Kentucky by none other than George Washington, who would later become our 1st President under the Constitution.


But the period we are going to talk about deals with the years 1865 to 1890.  The Indian wars were characterized by small vicious fights in which neither side asked for nor gave any quarter. The most famous battle was the Little Big Horn. Custer's 600- man 7th Cavalry was virtually wiped out by a band of about 4,000 Sioux lead by the chiefs Crazy Horse and Sitting Bull in Montana. 

   Custer and his favorite Indian scout Bloody Knife (kneeling left)
By the late 1880s, the Indians Wars were virtually complete. Then a series of "limited wars" began in which the cavalry was to play a major role.


Cavalry has always been a critical arm of warfare. For centuries daring soldiers carried out important missions mounted on horseback.  During WW II, tanks and assault guns were often rushed to the front and committed to combat with the paint barely dry so long as there were crews able to man them.  This is not the case with cavalry mounts in the 19th Century. Immature and untrained horses are useless as cavalry mounts, and since wars last only so long, they have to be fought with existing trained animals. Combat, poor care, disease, stress and inadequate diet all took their toll on horses and the armies used up large numbers. The price of animals (both horses and mules) steadily rose during the war, and finally standards written for the purchasing agents of the quartermaster corps to follow in judging the fitness of the animals for service. The war did not distinguish between civilian and military horses either. Both armies often requisition (a fancy name for stealing) horses from civilians when operating within enemy territory. This was done both to supply the needs of the army and, just as important, to deny their use to the enemy. At the end of the Civil War the Army sold a surplus of 104,000 horses at public auction. 


With the end of the Civil War the United States embarked on a course of westward expansion. Both the war weary people from the North and those whose homes had been destroyed in the South traveled overland along routes like the Chisholm, Oregon, Bozeman, and the Santa Fe Trails. There was always a threat of Indians attacking the wagon trains.  


During this the Indians were assigned to reservations; the role of the army was to keep them there. The reservations fell under the control of the Interior Department. The Great Plains was under the Army's Department of the Missouri, comprising an area of over 1,000,000 mi. which included all the lands between the Mississippi River and the Rocky Mountains. Maj. Gen. Winfield S. Hancock led the department in 1866, but had mishandled his campaign, resulting in Sioux and Cheyenne raids that attacked mail stagecoaches, burnt the stations, and killed the employees. They had also raped, killed, and kidnapped many settlers.  Under pressure from the governors, President General Ulysses Grant turned to Philip Sheridan, famed for his handling of the Shenandoah Valley Campaign during the war. In September 1866, Sheridan went to Fort Martin Scott in Texas, taking three months to stop the Indian raids there. Sheridan was known as a fierce enemy of the Indians, and his approach to the Indians was encapsulated in the saying "The only good Indian is a dead Indian", though he himself denied having said this when criticized by his political opponents. 


On November 29, 1864, the Colorado state militia responded to a series of Indian attacks on white settlements by attacking a Cheyenne and Arapaho camp on Sand Creek in southeastern Colorado. They were under orders to take no prisoners and the militia killed and mutilated 200 of the Indians, two-thirds of whom were women and children, taking scalps and other grisly “trophies” of battle. The Indians at Sand Creek had been assured by the U.S. Government that they would be safe in the territory they were occupying, but anti-Indian sentiments by white settlers ran high.


Following the massacre, the survivors joined the Cheyenne on the Smokey Hill and Republican Rivers. There, the war pipe was smoked and as it passed from camp to camp among the Sioux, Cheyenne, and Arapaho camped in the area, an attack on the stage station and fort at Julesburg was planned and carried out in January 1865. This attack was followed up by numerous raids along the South Platte both east and west of Julesburg and a second raid on Julesburg in early February. A great deal of bounty was taken and many settlers killed. Most of the Indians then moved north into Nebraska on their way to the Black Hills and the Powder River.


During the spring of 1865, raids continued along the Oregon Trail in Nebraska and the Sioux, Northern Cheyenne, and the Northern Arapaho together with the warriors who had come north after the Sand Creek massacre raided the Oregon Trail along the North Platte River. In July 1865, they attacked the troops stationed at the bridge across the North Platte at the present site of Casper, Wyoming.


Finally in 1866 Congress authorized a total of 10 regiments of cavalry plus a corps of Indian Scouts to be raised and stationed along these trails.
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 A trooper of the 5th Cavalry
Indian War Period
The 9th and the 10th Cavalry Regiments composed of African-American soldiers acquired the nickname of “Buffalo Soldiers” do to their skin color and their coarse curly hair.  


By 1868 these regiments were scattered among some 59 outposts across the western states. Life was anything but easy and the conditions were primitive at best. One cavalry officer commented in his memoirs that he never knew of any man, soldier or civilian, in the region who died a natural death. This was the period of the Indian Wars and cavalry units were employed pursuing a foe who possessed a warrior philosophy, superb horsemanship skills, superior knowledge of local conditions, and ironically more times than not, better weapons purchased from white traders. The Army was still using the single shot carbines while the Indians were using the more modern repeating rifles.

In 1875, the last serious Sioux war erupted, when gold was discovered in the Black Hills. The Army did not keep miners off Sioux hunting grounds as promised; and, when ordered to take action against bands of Sioux hunting on the range, which was according to their treaty rights, the Army moved quickly and furiously. In 1876, after several indecisive encounters, General George Armstrong Custer found the main encampment of the Lakota and their allies at the Little Big Horn River. Custer and his men were all killed by the far more numerous Indians who had the tactical advantage.  The Indians were led by Chief Crazy Horse and had been inspired by Chief Sitting Bull's earlier vision of victory. The defeat of Custer and his troopers as a popularized episode in the history of western Indian warfare was fostered by an ad campaign of Anheuser-Busch. The company ordered reprints of a dramatic painting that depicted "Custer's Last Fight" and had them framed and hung in many American saloons, helping to create lasting impressions of the battle and the brewery's products in the minds of bar patrons. 
 Little Big Horn


The well watered region of the Powder, Rosebud, Bighorn, and Yellowstone rivers was a productive hunting ground. The tribes regularly gathered in large numbers during the spring to celebrate their annual Sun Dance ceremony. The most recent Sun Dance had occurred two weeks earlier. During the ceremony, Sitting Bull received a vision of soldiers falling upside down into his village and prophesized there soon would be a great victory for his people. On the morning of June 25, the camp was rampant with rumors about soldiers on the other side of the Wolf Mountains, 15 miles to the east, yet few people paid any attention. [image: image29.jpg]010 20Kilometes  Terry-Gibbon meeting  GiBBON
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 In the words of Low Dog, an Oglala Sioux, "I did not think anyone would come and attack us so strong as we were."


On June 22, General Terry decided to detach Custer and his 7th Cavalry to make a wide flanking march and approach the Indians from the east and south. Custer was to act as the hammer, and prevent the Lakota and their Cheyenne allies from slipping away and scattering; a common fear expressed by government and military authorities. General Terry and Colonel Gibbon, with infantry and cavalry, would approach from the north to act as a blocking force in support of Custer's far ranging movements toward the headwaters of the Tongue and Little Bighorn Rivers. The Indians, who were thought to be camped somewhere along the Little Bighorn River, "would be so completely enclosed as to make their escape virtually impossible".


On the evening of June 24, Custer established a night camp twenty-five miles east of where the fateful battle would take place on June 25-26. The Crow and Arikara scouts were sent ahead, seeking actionable intelligence about the direction and location of the combining Lakota and Cheyenne. The returning scouts reported that the trail indicated the village turned west toward the Little Bighorn River and was encamped about twenty-five miles west of the June 24 camp. Custer ordered a night march that followed the route that the village took as it crossed to the Little Bighorn River valley. Early on the morning of June 25, the 7th Cavalry Regiment was positioned near the Wolf Mountains about twelve miles distant from the Lakota/Cheyenne encampment along the Little Bighorn River. Today, historians estimate the village numbered 8,000, with a warrior force of 1,500-1,800 men. Custer's initial plan had been to conceal his regiment in the Wolf Mountains through June 25th, which would allow his Crow and Arikara scouts time to locate the Sioux and Cheyenne village. Custer then planned to make a night march, and launch an attack at dawn on June 26; however, the scouts reported the regiment's presence had been detected by Lakota or Cheyenne warriors. Custer, judging the element of surprise to have been lost, feared the inhabitants would attack or scatter into the rugged landscape; causing the failure of the Army's campaign. Custer ordered an immediate advance to engage the village and its warrior force.


At the Wolf Mountain location, Custer ordered a division of the regiment into four segments: the pack train with ammunition and supplies, a three company force (125) commanded by Captain Frederick Benteen, a three company force (140) commanded by Major Marcus Reno, and a five company force (210) commanded by Custer. Benteen was ordered to march southwest on a left oblique, with the objective of locating any Indians, "pitch into anything" he found, and send word to Custer. Custer and Reno's advance placed them in proximity to the village, but still out of view. When it was reported that the village was scattering, Custer ordered Reno to lead his 140 man battalion, plus the Arikara scouts, and to "pitch into what was ahead" with the assurance that he would "be supported by the whole outfit".


The Lakota and Cheyenne village lay in the broad river valley bottom, just west of the Little Bighorn River. As instructed by his commanding officer, Reno crossed the river about two miles south of the village and began advancing downstream toward its southern end. Though initially surprised, the warriors quickly rushed to fend off Reno’s assault. Reno halted his command, dismounted his troops and formed them into a skirmish line which began firing at the warriors who were advancing from the village. Mounted warriors pressed their attack against Reno's skirmish line and soon endangered his left flank. Reno withdrew to a stand of timber beside the river, which offered better protection. Eventually, Reno ordered a second retreat; this time to the bluffs east of the river. The Sioux and Cheyenne, likening the pursuit of retreating troops to a buffalo hunt, rode down the troopers. Soldiers at the rear of Reno's fleeing command incurred heavy casualties as warriors galloped alongside the fleeing troops and shot them at close range, or pulled them out of their saddles onto the ground.


Reno's now shattered command recrossed the Little Bighorn River and struggled up steep bluffs to regroup atop high ground to the east of the valley fight. Benteen had found no evidence of Indians or their movement to the south, and had returned to the main column. He arrived on the bluffs in time to meet Reno's demoralized survivors. A messenger from Custer previously had delivered a written communication to Benteen that stated, "Come on. Big Village. Be Quick. Brings Packs. P.S. Bring Packs." An effort was made to locate Custer after heavy gunfire was heard downstream. Led by Captain Weir's D Company, troops moved north in an attempt establish communication with Custer. Assembling on a high promontory (Weir Point) a mile and a half north of Reno's position, the troops could see clouds of dust and gun smoke covering the battlefield. Large numbers of warriors approaching from that direction forced the cavalry to withdraw to Reno Hill where the Indians held them under siege from the afternoon of June 25, until dusk on June 26. On the evening of June 26, the entire village began to move to the south.


The next day the combined forces of Terry and Gibbon arrived in the valley bottom where the village had been encamped. The badly battered and defeated remnant of the 7th Cavalry was now relieved. Scouting parties, advancing ahead of General Terry's command, discovered the dead, naked, and mutilated bodies of Custer's command on the ridges east of the river. Exactly what happened to Custer's command will never be fully known. From Indian accounts, relic finds, and positions of bodies, historians can piece together the Custer portion of the battle, although many answers remain elusive.


It is known that, after ordering Reno to charge the village, Custer rode northward along the bluffs until he reached a broad gulch known as Medicine Tail Coulee, a natural route leading down to the river and the village. Relic finds indicate some skirmishing occurred at Medicine Tail ford. For reasons not fully understood, the troops fell back and assembled on Calhoun Hill, a terrain feature on Battle Ridge. The warriors, after forcing Major Reno to retreat, now began to converge on Custer's maneuvering command as it forged north along what, today, is called Custer or Battle Ridge.


Dismounting at the southern end of the ridge, companies C and L appear to have put up stiff resistance before being overwhelmed. Company I perished on the east side of the ridge in a large group; the survivors rushing toward the hill at the northwest end of the long ridge. Company E may have attempted to drive warriors from the deep ravines on the west side of the ridge, before being consumed in fire and smoke in one of the very ravines they were trying to clear. Company F may have tried to fire at warriors on the flats below the National Cemetery before being driven to the Last Stand Site.


About 40 to 50 men of the original 210 were cornered on the hill where the monument now stands. Hundreds of Lakota and Cheyenne warriors surrounded them. Toward the end of the fight, soldiers, some on foot others on horseback broke out in a desperate attempt to get away. All were killed in a matter of minutes. The warriors quickly rushed to the top of the hill, cutting, clubbing, and stabbing the last of the wounded and mutilating the dead troopers. A squaw taking an awl and piercing Custer’s ears said “Can you hear us now?”

Later, in 1890, a Ghost Dance ritual on the Northern Lakota Sioux reservation at Wounded Knee, South Dakota, led to the Army's attempt to subdue them. On December 29, the 7th Cavalry was ordered to disarm the band.  While both sides were looking to avoid a fight, a misunderstanding took place while the troopers were disarming them which touched off a fusillade of gunfire resulting in the deaths of up to 300 Indians, mostly old men, women and children in what would become known as the Wounded Knee Massacre.  Approximately 25 soldiers died, all of who may have been killed by friendly fire.   This would become the last act of hostility between the Indians and the soldiers.  The army was embarrassed by the event and General Nelson Miles, commander of the Department of the Missouri, denounced the colonel of the 7th Cavalry and relieved him of command. 
Many soldiers enlisted because they thought it was their duty, others joined for the bounty and others joined to impress their girlfriends. Many of the married women also encouraged their men to go to war. One of these men, while bidding his wife good bye whimpered a little and showed signs of backing out. His wife told him that if he was going to cry about it, to pull off his britches and she'd go in his place and he can stay home and run the farm.
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 Lores and Legends
Cindy Freed

Is Andersonville as Overpopulated in Death as it was in 1864?

It's said when there's great suffering and violence at death, a soul's spirit cannot rest. This may be noticeably apparent on the grounds of Andersonville prison today. Many stories are told by visitors who walk the current National Historic Site only to see, hear and feel the ghostly remnants of Andersonville's tragic existence.


Andersonville prison as we know was infamous for the horrible living conditions imposed on Union prisoners of war held there. Officially known as Camp Sumter, it was located in the southwest part of Georgia. It opened in February 1864 to house the ever growing prison population that increased once the prisoner exchange system broke down between the north and south.


There are numerous accounts of the atrocious living conditions endured by the prisoners. Andersonville was built to house 10,000 men but at its peak 33,000 men were jammed inside its walls. Barracks were not erected for prisoners. The men built their own huts and tents out of scrap pieces of wood, tree limbs and whatever cloth they could find. These flimsy structures could not give relief from the intense summer heat of the Georgia sun, the cold winter nights or pounding rain.


Inside the prison a “deadline” marked by a thin rail fence kept prisoners from climbing the stockade walls. Guards were ordered to shoot any soldier who touched the fence let alone cross it. Many prisoners who could no longer exist in such conditions committed suicide by crossing the “deadline”.


The fresh water for prisoners was a small stream, a branch of Sweetwater Creek that ran through the center of the camp. Unfortunately it had to be used for bathing as well. Soon this stream and the surrounding area grew putrid with the accumulation of human waste and filth furthering the spread of disease.


Food was scarce for the prisoners. Most died from starvation or malnutrition. Disease and infection ran rampant. Men were dying horrible, agonizing deaths at a rate of 100 a day.


Today a visitor can walk this historic Civil War site. The prison is outlined with white posts and two sections of stockade walls. The rebuilt stockade gives a hint of the original primitive prison. The adjoining cemetery holds the remains of more than 13,800 Union soldiers who died at Andersonville and in the surrounding region.


Many travelers to this historic site can attest to unusual and haunting experiences. Some have reported an eerie feeling as they tour the grounds. There are decidedly “cold spots” in the blazing heat of a summer sun. One “cold spot” is the burial place for six of the “Raiders”. These “Raiders”, as they were called, were Union prisoners who terrorized their fellow brethren. Stealing, beating and even murdering the weakened at Andersonville, the “Raiders” took food rations and whatever valuables other prisoners had. Another group of Union prisoners banded together and were able to capture the “Raiders” ring leaders. These men were convicted at trial and were hung. It's thought their cold, evil spirits hover near their graves.


Many visitors experience a sad, very unnerving, melancholy feeling as they walk the grounds. A sensation they cannot shake. The heaviness of the area is an aura that seeps to the visitor's bones. 


Others have smelled a horrid, acrid, even sour odor. One Vietnam veteran compared it to the sickening smell of a war time field hospital. Yet visitors find nothing around them as a source for this retching odor.


Stalwart visitors have camped near the prison grounds at night. Whenever fog begins to cover the prison grounds in the early evening, many campers have reported seeing soldiers, both Union and Confederate, in the midst of the fog. They hear the voices of a group of men talking, punctuated by moans and pleas for help. The sound of musket fire often rips through the evening air. There's even those who have seen a small fire on the prison property and smelled meat cooking, yet on further inspection in daylight there is no evidence of a fire.


One teenage visitor reported seeing two men dressed as Union soldiers standing off to the side of the grounds. When she approached them to ask to take their picture they vanished.


A woman left shortly after her tour of the grounds began. She noticed a distraught young woman, in period dress bent over one of the thousands of graves in the prison cemetery. Assuming the “widow” was a reenactor, the visitor approached the mourner only to have her evaporate before the tourist's eyes.  


Captain Wirz, the commandant of Andersonville, was the only person convicted and hung for war crimes after the Civil War. Many have seen Captain Wirz walking up today's Highway 49 to the entrance of the prison. When cars slow to offer him a ride he simply disappears.


Still others produce numerous snap shots of the area with orbs and mists streaming through their images. Odd occurrences for photos have taken place on clear, sunny days. Are the orbs the spirits of those who died abruptly or in agony?


There are a lot of stories of ghosts and eerie happenings in and around the 26 acres that once was [image: image68.jpg].
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Andersonville prison. There are many more than mentioned here. If the spirits of those who died violently or maliciously do haunt their last environs, then Andersonville prison is as overpopulated in death as it was in 1864.
Songs They Sang
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Tramp! Tramp! Tramp! (The Prisoner's Hope)
Composed by George F Root 1864
In the prison cell I sit, thinking Mother, dear, of you,
And our bright and happy home so far away,
And the tears, they fill my eyes 'spite of all that I can do,
Tho' I try to cheer my comrades and be gay.

Tramp, tramp, tramp, the boys are marching,
Cheer up, comrades, they will come.
And beneath the starry flag we shall breathe the air again,
Of the free land in our own beloved home.

In the battle front we stood, when their fiercest charge they made,
And they swept us off a hundred men or more,
But before we reached their lines, they were beaten back dismayed,
And we heard the cry of vict'ry o'er and o'er.

Tramp, tramp, tramp, the boys are marching,
Cheer up, comrades, they will come.
And beneath the starry flag we shall breathe the air again,
Of the free land in our own beloved home.

So within the prison cell we are waiting for the day,
That shall come to open wide the iron door.
And the hollow eye grows bright, and the poor heart almost gay,
As we think of seeing home and friends once more.

Tramp, tramp, tramp, the boys are marching,
Cheer up, comrades, they will come.
And beneath the starry flag we shall breathe the air again,
Of the free land in our own beloved home.
 T hear the song, go to: http://www.pdmusic.org/civilwar/cws11.mid 
Civil War Fact
The first U. S. Naval hospital ship, the Red Rover, was used on the inland waters during the Vicksburg campaign.
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The Ball of Wool- The party are seated round a table, from which the cloth must be drawn. A little wool is rolled up into the
 form of a ball, and placed in the middle of the table. The company then commence to blow upon it, each one trying to drive it away from his own direction, and the object of all being to blow it off; so that the person by whose right side it falls may pay a forfeit. The longer the ball is kept on the table by the opposing puffs of the surrounding party, the more amusing the game becomes, as the distended cheeks and zealous exertions of the players afford mirth to lookers-on as well as to themselves.
    Similar to this is a game called "Blowing the Feather," in which a small feather set floating in the air answers the same purpose as the ball upon the table. The forfeit falls to the individual whose puff is ineffectual in keeping the feather afloat, or who suffers it to drop when it reaches him. 
“Once you get them running, you can stay on top of them, and that way a small force can defeat a large one every time” – Thomas “Stonewall” Jackson
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Bob Venable’s The Spotlight is on: 
The Squirrel Hunters


“Our southern border is threatened with invasion.  I have therefore to recommend that all of the loyal men of your counties at once form themselves into military companies and regiments to beat back the enemy at any and all points he may attempt to invade our State.  Gather up all of the arms in the country, and furnish yourselves with ammunition for the same.  The service will be but a few days.  The soil of Ohio must not be invaded by the enemies of our glorious government.”

Those were the words of Ohio Governor David Tod’s proclamation of September 2, 1862 requesting Ohio’s “Minute-men” to proceed to Cincinnati to defend her from Confederate forces led by General E. Kirby Smith which had taken Lexington and Frankfort, Kentucky leaving open the path to Cincinnati.  If you have read Cindy Freed’s Brass Buttons story about Noel Clayton in this edition of our magazine, you know that she used the term Squirrel Hunters to describe the armed men who responded to Governor Tod’s plea for help in defending Cincinnati.  This is the rest of the story about those men.


Kirby Smith sent Brigadier General Henry Heth to capture the “Queen City” and its northern Kentucky suburbs.  The populace was in a general panic.  Major General Horatio G. Wright, Commander of the Department of the Ohio headquartered in Cincinnati, placed Major General Lew Wallace, later author of the novel Ben-Hur, in command of the defense of Cincinnati.  Wallace had largely filled administrative roles subsequent to the Battle of Shiloh, Tennessee.  But as we shall see, he was no shrinking violet in the days to come.
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    Lew Wallace                      Henry Heth  


Wallace immediately established martial Law and ordered all able-bodied men to assist in the defense of the city.  General Ormsby Mitchel and Colonel Charles Wittlesey, Engineering Corps, stepped up the timeline for finishing a series of five forts and 23 batteries on the hills of Northern Kentucky.  These installations were arranged in a semi-circle configuration stretching 10 miles from Bromley along the Ohio River in northwest Kenton County to the Highlands, present day Ft. Thomas, in Campbell County.  One was Battery Shaler in Evergreen Cemetery Southgate, Kentucky, still partially preserved.  The 4th Ohio Volunteer Cavalry Descendants Association visited the site during our reunion in 2005.   
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Battery Shaler, Evergreen Cemetery, Southgate, KY where preserved earthen works still exist

Another well-known battery was Battery Hooper located in present day Ft. Wright (named for MG Wright), also visited by our Association in 2005.  The James A. Ramage Civil War Museum is located there and periodic archaeological digs are conducted.  Our Bill Krebs was able to assist the docents in identifying a cannon on display there.
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Battery Hooper archaeological site


By September 4, Tod’s private citizen soldiers arrived in Cincinnati, with no military training, dressed in their homespun clothes, homemade coonskin or straw hats, moccasins and gum boots, and carrying antiquated, or no, firearms, plus bedding of quilts and colored blankets.  Newspaper correspondent Whitlaw Reid called them “crude, unorganized swarms” committed to “readiness but unsatisfactory service.  ”Tod expected 8,000.  He got 15,766 from 65 Ohio counties within 48 hours.  Many more arrived from Indiana, Michigan, and Kentucky – The Squirrel Hunters, a force from which legends are born.  The Cincinnati Fifth Street Markethouse was utilized as a dining hall for these backwoodsmen.  Halls and factories became bunk houses.  The ladies of the city furnished baskets of food and “a river” of coffee.  The task of delivering these men across the Ohio River to man the batteries and forts in Kentucky forced Wallace to innovate because ferries could not move them quickly and there was no bridge connecting the two states.  So a pontoon bridge was built in 30 hours connecting Cincinnati and Covington, Kentucky.  Another was built between Covington and Newport, Kentucky across the Licking River which separated the two counties in which the forts and batteries were located.
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Covington floodwall mural depicting the Squirrel Hunters crossing on a pontoon bridge

It was on that Ohio River pontoon bridge that the Squirrel Hunters acquired their nickname.  According to legend, as they crossed the bridge they practiced their sharpshooting skills, picking off squirrels in the trees on the Kentucky side.  Whether that is true or not, a reporter’s story supplied the name and Governor Todd began using it in correspondence to Secretary of War Stanton within days.  The Squirrel Hunters took their position in the various forts and batteries along with federal troops who arrived in the area from Camp Dennison, for a total of about 72,000 men to defend Cincinnati.  These Squirrel Hunters, who never actually joined the army, should not be confused with the Wallace Guards Ohio Volunteer Infantry who were actually mustered into the army on September 4 and mustered out on October 4, 1862.


Confederate General Heth arrived in Walton, Kentucky, 18 miles south of Cincinnati, on about September 10 with about 10,000 men.  Scouts were sent out to ascertain the size of the Union forces and a small skirmish, not involving Squirrel Hunters, occurred around Fort Mitchel, one of the Kenton County installations.  Nevertheless, the scouts reported to Heth that the defenders were called Squirrel Shooters, farm boys who “never have to shoot at the same squirrel twice.”  By September 13, the southern troops were in full retreat due to the strength of Cincinnati’s defenses.  The “Siege of Cincinnati” had lasted less than two weeks.  Brigadier General A.J. Smith reported to Wallace on September 13 from Fort Mitchel that the enemy was in full retreat and asked “Cannot I get rid of the Squirrel Hunters?  They are under no control.”  This was reported up the chain of command on the 17th.  In truth, most of the Squirrel Hunters had re-crossed to Cincinnati on the 12th in a grand parade to the thanks of the citizenry, not having had to fire a shot in war, their mere presence sufficient to turn the tide.   After basking in the spotlight, some joined regular forces but most retreated quietly to their homes.  Hastily printed discharges were handed out.  A number of varieties exist, most showing General Wallace at top left and Governor Todd, top right, a squirrel on a tree limb, bottom left, and a caricature of a sharpshooter, bottom right.   
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Early Squirrel Hunter Discharge


Meanwhile, Governor Todd had again written to Secretary Stanton on September 13 that “The Minute-men, or Squirrel Hunters, responded gloriously to the call for defense of Cincinnati” and that the enemy retreat was due to this “uprising of the people.”  Todd demanded the Secretary pay their transportation costs.  That apparently never happened, but on March 4, 1863 Ohio voted funds to allow Tod to issue state approved discharges to the Squirrel Hunters from Ohio.  The 1863 discharge is a formal document bearing the state seal plus this proclamation officially naming them Squirrel Hunters:

Resolved by the Senate and the House of Representatives of the State of Ohio, That the Governor is hereby authorized and directed to appropriate out of his contingent fund, a sufficient sum to pay for printing and lithographing discharges to the patriotic men of the State, who responded to the call of the Governor, and went to the southern border to repel the invader, and who will be known in history as the SQUIRREL HUNTERS.


Monetary compensation for the Squirrel Hunters had to wait until 1908 when the Ohio General Assembly authorized the state to pay each Squirrel Hunter the equivalent of one month pay of an Ohio militiaman in 1862, a grand total of $13.  Records of these payments are on microfilm at the Ohio statehouse in Columbus, Office of the Division of Soldier Claims.

Sources:

Margaret S. Hartman, The Civil War in Northern Kentucky and Cincinnati (1982).

Roster Commission, Official Roster of the Soldiers of the State of Ohio in the War of the Rebellion Vol. 1, p. 517 (Werner Print., Akron, OH 1891)

The War of the Rebellion: A Compilation of the Official Records of the Union and Confederate Armies, Series 1, Vol. 16, Part II, Chapter XXVIII, pp. 514 & 524

David E. Roth, Squirrel Hunters to the Rescue, Cincinnati Civil War Roundtable
. David M. Smith, The Defense of Cincinnati, (Jan. 1998)

http://www.ohiohistorycentral.org/entry.php?rec=635  

Many other county based Squirrel Hunter web pages too numerous to list
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Civil War Philately
                                  Bob Venable

The 2013 United States Postage Stamps commemorating the 150th anniversary of the Civil War are to be issued by the Postal Service on May 23.  This year they feature the Siege of Vicksburg and the Battle of Gettysburg.  They are self-adhesive Forever stamps which cost 46¢ each but are valid for first class postage anytime, even if the mailing rate goes up as it did on January 27 by one penny.  The stamps are in a double-sided souvenir sheet with two stamps on the front and 10 on the back.  These are Postal Service publicity images of the 2013 stamps.[image: image37.jpg]
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The Vicksburg stamp is a reproduction of an 1863 Currier and Ives lithograph titled “Admiral Porter’s Fleet Running the Rebel Blockade of the Mississippi at Vicksburg, April 16, 1863.”  The Gettysburg stamp is a reproduction of an 1887 chromolithograph by Thure de Thulstrup, commissioned by Louis Prang & Co. to commemorate the War.  The background on the sheet surrounding the stamps shows a photo by Mathew Brady of captured Confederate soldiers on Seminary Ridge.  It also has comments by Lincoln, Clara Barton, a Union and Confederate soldier, and some of the lyrics of “Lorena,” a popular Civil War song.


Another stamp issued this year is not part of the Sesquicentennial of the Civil War itself but is related to the conflict.  It commemorates the 150th anniversary of the Emancipation Proclamation by which President Lincoln freed the slaves in the states in rebellion against the United States and allowed Blacks to serve in the Union forces.  In an unusual move, the stamp was issued on a holiday, January 1, because the Proclamation was issued that day in 1863.  The 45¢ self-adhesive Forever stamp is pictured here. 
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Scott Catalogue # 4721

This is the second stamp to be issued for the Emancipation Proclamation.  Scott #1233 was issued in 1963, the Proclamation’s centennial.  It pictured the simple design of a broken chain, shown here.
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Scott Catalogue # 1233  
What is it?
From page 34:  percussion cap for a revolver
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GENEALOGY, n. An account of one's descent from an ancestor who did not particularly care to trace his own. Ambrose Bierce 
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Letters from the Front

When we ordered the service record of Pvt. Noel Clayton, we received a copy of the following letter.
Carrolton, KY   Feb 2

Hon. Greene Clay Smith
Sir

     I have encroached on your politeness by enclosing a letter to D English whose address in Washington I am not acquainted with, being informed that it will be safely placed in his hands by doing so.  I have intended writing to you for some time on behalf of my son, but had hoped that the health of my husband D Clayton would have permitted me to reach Washington myself some weeks since, and have requested your assistance in person.  I think it probable we are utterly unknown to you although belonging to your Congressional District, which in circumstance is indeed all the claim I can make to your attention, if a family in great suffering may not be sufficient.

     I will at once state the case of my poor unfortunate boy.  He volunteered at the age of 17 & his address is *“Private Noel Clayton, Co. D, 4th Ohio Vol. Cav.” (he was in a Cou's [abbreviation for cousin's – ed.] House in Cincinnati when the city was threatened with attack) and was captured at Chickamauga Sept 1863, since which time he has been in Richmond and southern prisons unknown to his family.  We last heard of him by letter at Belle Isle on the 6th of Feb 1864 & have heard since from D Moore of Richmond that he was removed to Andersonville after the 4th of Mar through an escaped prisoner who answered our advertisement says that he was in prison with him in Richmond up to the time of his own escape in Sept 1864.  We suppose D Moore’s account the more reliable.  No relief that we have attempted has ever reached him and his state of destitution after an imprisonment of sixteen months is maddening to think of.

     I cannot go to him.  I cannot ever leave my sick husband long enough to reach Washington to urge upon the President that this poor child be exchanged in time to see his father once more in this world.  All I can do is to implore of others to try to do something for me.  I have been told my course is to get a Rebel prisoner paroled to go to Richmond for him.  Could this be done there is a young man at Camp Douglas, Illinois (by name, Butler Turpin) who is related to (unable to decipher two words here – ed) & if I could get him released I make no doubt that he would succeed in finding & sending home our poor lost child.  But whatever course was pursued if only it terminated in his release.  I should feel most grateful to all concerned.  I can only beg in conclusion that you Sir will excuse so long a letter from a stranger in consideration of her unhappy situation.

     Yesterday our Provost Marshall W. Carlisle was killed by guerillas at Worthsville, supposed to be under Sue Mundy.

     I am Sir

         Respectfully yours
                  Lucy Clayton

* Noel Clayton, 4th Ohio Vol. Cav. (Co. D)

Noel Clayton was not exchanged and died at Andersonville July 21, 1864 and is buried in Andersonville National Cemetery. – Ed.
From Our Field Correspondents
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HORRORS OF REBEL PRIBON-HOUSES,

Names of Three Hundred and Seventy Union
Soldiors whe Died fn Capiivity Dur.ng n
Spaco of Five Weokss

From Our Own Oorrespondent.

‘Wasrinarox, Thursday, June 8, 1884,

Col. Horpmax, Commissary-General of Prison-
ors, to-day recelved from the rebel medical authori-
ties she following report of deatbs of Union prison-
ers which eccurred in prison st Columbus, Ga., from
the 27th of February illl the 31st of March. The lst
embraces the names of three hundred and aiventy of
our brave soldiers, who, in a little over one monih,
have falien victims o rebel barbarity. Caneny of
our prison-camps exhibit such terrible mortallty as
this?

Asg Malabey, H, 4th U Cav,
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DEATHS JUNE 20, 1864.
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The list has been cut down for space sake.  The first listed 370 names and ran 8 pages long, while the 2nd list had over 1600 names and was 72 pages long. - Ed

General John Winder
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